Electromyographic Analysis of the Hamstrings during the 'Nordic' Hamstring Exercise

Steven Fruer

A thesis submitted to the University of Gloucestershire in accordance with the requirements of the Degree of MSc by Research in the Faculty of Sport, Health and Social Care

September 2008

ABSTRACT

Training using the Nordic Hamstring Exercise (NHE) has been shown to improve factors that may help prevent hamstrings injury, despite this no research group has examined the recruitment characteristics of the hamstrings muscles during this exercise and considered the specificity of training adaptations. The aim of the present investigation was to study the electromyographic (EMG) activity of the hamstrings muscles during the NHE and then to investigate the effect of a 4 week NHE training programme on isokinetic eccentric hamstring peak torque production in both limbs at velocities 60, 120 and 240°/s. Eighteen male professional soccer players (mean \pm SD; age, 22.8 \pm 3.5 yrs) were randomly assigned to a training or control group. A paired sample t-test indicated no difference in the normalised RMS amplitude of the hamstrings between the dominant (DOM) and non dominant (NDOM) limbs ($t_{37} = 0.137$; P = 0.413) during the NHE. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA demonstrated no interaction between the medial (MED) and lateral (LAT) muscle regions and the knee position (phase 1, 1st 1/3 of the movement; phase 2, 2nd 1/3 of the movement; phase 3, 3rd 1/3 of the movement) for the RMS EMG amplitude of the hamstrings in the DOM limb ($F_{2,35} = 1.775$, P = 0.184). Although no main effect for muscle region was observed (F $_{1, 36} = 1.605$, P = 0.213), main effects for knee position during the movement on RMS EMG amplitude were demonstrated ($F_{2,35} = 154.354$, P < 154.3540.001). Bonferroni corrected post-hoc t-tests indicated that the normalised RMS EMG amplitude was significantly higher at phase 2 ($11.1\pm3.8\%$) and phase 3 ($8.6\pm3.0\%$) of the movement when compared to phase 1 $(3.7\pm1.8\%)$ of the movement. For the training study, a two-way (2 x 2) between (group) within (time) ANOVA demonstrated an interaction effect for time by group of the DOM and NDOM limbs in isokinetic hamstring peak torque production across assessment velocities (60%, DOM $F_{1,16}$ = 5.11, P = 0.04; NDOM $F_{1,16}$ $= 6.84, P = 0.02; 120^{\circ}/s, DOM F_{1, 16} = 4.46, P = 0.05; 240^{\circ}/s DOM, F_{1, 16} = 8.10, P = 0.05; 240^{\circ}/s DOM, F_{1, 16} = 0.02; P = 0.0$ 0.01; 240°/s, NDOM, $F_{1, 16} = 5.68$, P = 0.03). Main effects for time for the DOM limb were observed for the slowest velocity (60%, DOM, $F_{1,16} = 5.58$, P = 0.03), but not for the faster velocities (120°/s, DOM, $F_{1, 16} = 2.73 P = 0.12$; 240°/s, DOM, $F_{1, 16} = 1.24, P =$ 0.28). Main effects for time for the NDOM limb were observed across all velocities (60%, NDOM, *F*_{1,16} = 10.96, *P* < 0.001; 120%, NDOM, *F*_{1,16} = 6.75, *P* = 0.02; 240%, NDOM, $F_{1,16} = 12.24$, P < 0.001). A two-way (2 x 2) repeated measures ANOVA indicated no interaction effects for time by limb across velocities in the training group (60°/s, $F_{1, 18}$ = 0.20, P = 0.66; 120°/s, $F_{1, 18} = 0.026$ P = 0.88; 240°/s, $F_{1, 18} = 2.48$, P = 0.13). Main effects for time across all velocities were observed ($F_{1,18} = 23.65, P < 0.001$) although no main effects for limb across all velocities were observed ($F_{1,18} = 0.75$, P = 0.40). EMG data demonstrates that the hamstrings muscles in both limbs are recruited to a similar extent and the activity levels of the LAT and MED hamstrings were similar during the NHE; with the highest activation levels being observed in the more extended knee joint positions. Isokinetic peak torque data demonstrates that 4 weeks NHE training significantly increases eccentric peak torque production in the hamstrings of both the DOM and NDOM limbs. These results have implications for injury prevention and rehabilitation as increasing eccentric hamstring strength has been identified to reduce hamstrings injuries.

AUTHOR'S DECLERATION

I declare that the work in this thesis was carried out in accordance with the regulations of the University of Gloucestershire and is original except where indicated by specific reference in the text. No part of the thesis has been submitted as part of any other academic award. The thesis has not been presented to any other education institution in the United Kingdom or overseas. Any views expressed in the thesis are those of the author and in no way represent those of the University.

Signed

Date 4th March 2

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. John Iga, Dr. Martine Deighan and Dr. David James for providing me with the opportunity to undertake this research project. I have appreciated their knowledge, guidance, time and support throughout the duration of the project. Throughout the practical stages of the project, I received much support from Chris Powell, a fellow postgraduate student at the University. Teamwork and cooperation ensured that testing procedures were conducted smoothly and efficiently, ensuring that the project was both worthwhile and enjoyable.

I would like to say a special thanks to the support of local Football Club, Forest Green Rovers, as many of the participants were recruited from this professional club. The time and effort invested by the staff has been acknowledged and deeply appreciated. In addition, I would also like to say thank you to all the members of staff at the University of Gloucestershire who were very helpful in getting involved in the project's participants recruitment. Many of the subjects were recruited from the University staff and the time and effort invested has been deeply appreciated. Finally, I would like to thank all the participants for making the study possible by volunteering to participate and completing all the exercise tests.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION				
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE 8				
2.1	Introduction	8		
2.2	Incidence of injury	8		
2.3	Location of injury	13		
2.4	Summary of epidemiological studies	16		
2.5	Aetiology of hamstring injuries	17		
2.6	Traditional suggested contributing factors	17		
2.7	Recent advances	22		
2.8	Summary of aetiology	26		
2.9	Electromyography	27		
2.10	Skin preparation	27		
2.11	Electrode placement	28		
2.12	Normalisation	29		
2.13	The role of resistance training in preventing hamstrings injuries	30		
2.14	Summary of resistance training	38		
CHAI	PTER III: METHODOLOGY	40		
3.1	Participants	40		
3.2	Training intervention	41		
3.3	The nordic hamstring exercise	42		
3.4	Isokinetic eccentric assessments	43		
3.5	Electromyography	44		
3.6	Data analysis	47		

CHAF	TER IV: RESULTS	49		
4.1	Electromyographic analysis of the NHE			
4.2	Isokinetic peak torque in the training study	50		
4.3	Isokinetic angle of peak torque production in the training study	51		
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION 5				
5.1	Main findings	52		
5.2	Practical application	63		
5.3	Recommendation for further research	65		
5.4	Conclusions	66		
REFE	REFERENCES			
TABL	ES			
Table	3.1 Participants anthropometric characteristics	41		
Table	3.2 Four week NHE training programme	41		
Table	3.3 95% Limits of Agreement for hamstrings peak torque	47		
Table	3.4 95% Limits of Agreement for hamstrings angle of peak			
	torque	47		
Table	4.1 Isokinetic peak torque strength of the hamstrings muscles			
	in the training and control group pre and post the training			
	intervention (Mean ± SD)	50		
Table	4.2 Isokinetic angle of peak torque production of the			
	hamstrings muscles in the training and the control group			
	pre and post the training intervention (Mean \pm SD)	51		

FIGURES

Figure 4.1	Electromyographic activity of the hamstrings muscles		
	during the NHE prior to training	49	
Figure 4.2	Isokinetic hamstrings strength of the NHE training group		
	in the DOM and NDOM limbs pre and post the training		
	intervention across test velocities	51	

APPENDICIES

Appendix A	Statistical power calculations for sample size
Appendix B	Participant information sheets
Appendix C	Informed consent forms
Appendix D	Pre exercise health questionnaire
Appendix E	Bland-Altman plots for reliability trials
Appendix F	NHE Electromyography data
Appendix G	Isokinetic hamstring peak torque data

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Soccer (association football) is without doubt the most popular sport in the world with over 200 million participants world-wide (Patel et al., 2002). As in any physical activity, as participation levels increase, so too does the number of individuals at risk of injury (Leininger et al., 2007). Epidemiological evidence indicates that the injury risk associated with the professional game is significantly higher than other work-based activities (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999). Indeed, it has been calculated that the overall level of injury sustained by professional players is approximately 1000 times higher than for industrial occupations generally regarded as high risk (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999). In the professional game (senior players) the impact of injury to a club has been measured by the number of competitive matches missed (Parry et al., 2006). Absenteeism due to injury may impact a team's performance; specifically, the loss of important first team players from the team may ultimately affect the overall success of a team, leading to reduced income due to a fall in match attendances, and diminishing prize money as a result of low league position, and early cup competition exits (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Woods et al., 2002). At youth level, the issue of injury may be considered in relation to the time available to train and perfect technical and tactical skills necessary for success at the highest level of the game (Price et al., 2004). Data obtained from the 38 English academy clubs over two competitive seasons reported that at the junior level of soccer, the average number of days missed due to an injury was 21.9, with an average of 2.31 games missed per injury (Price et al., 2004). One group of researchers has estimated that to become an elite performer, a player must train for over three hours per day for 10 years (Ericsson et al., 1994). When the importance of training is considered, it is clear that the occurrence of injury may compromise the development of young football players. Therefore, to

maximise a team's chances of success and to optimise a player's chance of realising their inherent potential, efforts must be made to prevent and control the occurrence of injury (Woods *et al.*, 2002; Price *et al.*, 2004).

A wealth of epidemiological studies have indicated that the majority of injuries sustained by soccer players occur in the lower extremity, with the thigh the major site for injury (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Woods *et al.*, 2002; Price *et al.*, 2004; Woods *et al.*, 2004). The high proportion of injuries at the thigh may be attributed to the high incidence of muscle strain injuries, particularly to the hamstrings muscle group. Evidence suggests that a high proportion of hamstrings strain injuries occur during running or sprinting (Price *et al.*, 2003; Woods *et al.*, 2004). During these activities, the injury is usually sustained late in the forward swing phase of the running action at the more extended knee angles as the hamstring muscle group works eccentrically (i.e., lengthens whist generating tension) to prevent hyperextension of the knee and flexion of the hip (Garrett, 1996).

Despite extensive study in the area the precise cause of hamstrings strain injuries still remains unclear (Croisier, 2004). A variety of factors have been implicated in the aetiology of hamstring strain injuries, including muscle weakness (Orchard *et al.*, 1997) and muscle imbalances (Croisier, 2004). In particular, weakness in the eccentric strength of the hamstrings has been suggested as a causative factor in the hamstring strain injury (Garrett 1990). Recently it has been reported that existing soccer training methods and soccer match play develops the knee musculature towards quadriceps dominance (Iga *et al.*, In press) and soccer match play leads to a reduction in the hamstrings to quadriceps ratio (Rahnama *et al.*, 2003; Greig, 2008), both these findings imply that soccer training and match play leads to a relative weakness of the hamstrings muscles. Also, during the running action it has been proposed that the microscopic damage to muscle caused by eccentric actions may lead to the occurrence of hamstrings injuries (Brockett *et al.*, 2004).

Eccentric muscle actions cause damage to muscle (McHugh *et al.*, 1999); this muscle damage is thought to occur as a result of non-uniform lengthening of individual sarcomeres (Morgan, 1990). It has been hypothesised that this initial damage occurs beyond the optimal length of the muscles' length tension relation (Brockett *et al.*, 2004). This initial injury could manifest into a more serious hamstring strain injury late in the game or training session due to repetitive eccentric hamstrings actions during activities like running. Support for this theory can be found in reports of a higher incidence of hamstrings injuries towards the end of matches and training sessions (Woods *et al.*, 2004; Brooks *et al.*, 2006).

However, surprisingly laboratory based studies have reported that eccentric actions appear not to be as influenced by muscle fatigue as other types of muscle actions (Tesch *et al.*, 1990; Pull and Ranson, 2007). This is even more surprising when you consider that during eccentric actions there is a preferential recruitment of low endurance, high threshold motor units (Tesch *et al.*, 1990).

An explanation for this phenomenon is the added mechanical advantage of lengthening actions, such as greater absorption and storage (Lastayo *et al.*, 2003). This is suggested to lead to eccentric actions being more efficient compared to concentric and isometric actions. In addition, less motor units are recruited during eccentric actions compared to concentric and isometric actions (Tesch *et al.*, 1990). This theory is confirmed as increases in oxygen consumption are insignificant in eccentric action in comparison to isometric or concentric actions (Dudley *et al.*, 1991), and a relatively low ATP turnover and a reduced production of lactate during eccentric actions compared to concentric actions have been reported (Ryschon *et al.*, 1997; Horstmann *et al.*, 2001). These findings would suggest that eccentric actions are less susceptible to fatigue when compared to concentric and isometric actions.

However studies have reported strength impairments following eccentric exercise. These strength impairments manifest into disturbances in force production (Pull and Ranson, 2007). This force reduction has been attributed to factors such as excitation-contraction coupling impairment, mechanical adaptations within the muscle (sarcomergenesis), an increased susceptibility to damage of fast twitch fibres, and impaired glycogen resynthesis (Bryne *et al.*, 2004). As it appears that most muscle damage occurs during eccentric actions when the muscle is fatigued it is logical to train an athlete under these conditions to prevent future muscle damage.

It has been suggested that resistance training to increase the eccentric strength of the hamstring muscle group may improve this muscle group's capability to absorb kinetic energy prior to failure, attenuating the risk of a muscle strain injury (Stanton and Purdam, 1989). The principles of training specificity indicate that muscle specifically adapts to the mechanical and metabolic stresses to which it is exposed (Baechle, 2000). Therefore, to induce neuromuscular adaptation in the eccentric strength of muscle, resistance training methods that emphasise an eccentric action should be utilised. Logistically, exercising with maximal voluntary eccentric action is by no means an easy feat (Hortobagyi, 2003). Training using traditional free-weights and machine-weights involves the performance of alternating concentric (muscle shortening) and eccentric (muscle lengthening) muscle actions. It is assumed that by performing the eccentric component of the movement at a deliberately slow velocity the exposure of muscle to an eccentric stimulus may be increased and this may serve as a stimulus for developing eccentric muscle strength. However, this method of training is yet to receive scientific validation, and providing an optimal training overload may prove difficult (Hortobagyi, 2003). Specialist training devices initially designed for resistance training in micro-gravity have been developed (Berg and Tesch, 1992). Although excellent results in terms of injury prevention and improved sprint performance have been reported following training using such devices (Askling *et al.*, 2002), these training machines are relatively expensive; consequently, their cost of purchase may prove prohibitive in many contexts. Another specialist device often used to train muscles eccentrically is an isokinetic dynamometer. Similarly, training using these devices may not be available to many soccer clubs and may prove impractical to perform with large numbers of individuals. Hence field-based training methods may be of more practical use at professional soccer clubs.

The 'Nordic' hamstrings exercise (NHE) has received increasing interest in recent years as a means of training to increase the eccentric strength of the hamstrings (Brughelli and Cronin, 2007). When performing the NHE a trainee starts in a knelt position with their ankles secured by a partner. Whilst maintaining their hip joint in an extended position, the trainee must then resist a forward-falling motion by engaging the hamstring muscles. The main attraction of this exercise is that it requires no additional equipment and can be performed simultaneously by a squad of players in the "field". Training time at professional clubs is often limited and coaches may be reluctant to redirect time away from technical and tactical training for specific resistance training (Iga *et al.*, In Press). Therefore, an additional advantage of the NHE is that this exercise can be incorporated into a warm-up routine; consequently, time utilised for technical and tactical training should not be jeopardised.

Electromyography has confirmed that the NHE is the optimal hamstrings field based exercise for motor unit recruitment, compared to other exercises commonly proscribed for training the hamstrings (Ebben *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, both an increase in hamstrings eccentric strength (Mjølsnes *et al.*, 2004) and modifications in the length-tension relations of the hamstrings muscles to longer muscle lengths have been reported after a period of training with the NHE (Brockett *et al.*, 2001; Clark *et al.*, 2005). Increasing the hamstrings eccentric strength may correct existing muscle imbalances about the knee, and increasing

the hamstrings muscles' working range of motion relative to its length-tension relation may provide protection against initial micro-damage caused by eccentric actions, by preventing fibres from reaching a length where they are susceptible to initial damage and a subsequent tear (Proske and Morgan, 2001). In support of this, one group of researchers reported a significant reduction in the incidence and severity of hamstring injuries following the incorporation of this exercise into the existing strength training routines of professional rugby union players (Brooks *et al.*, 2006).

Despite this, Brughelli and Cronin, (2007) suggested that due to the bilateral nature of this exercise, when this exercise is incorporated into a training programme the stronger limb may compensate for the weaker limb; over time this may induce or exacerbate existing bilateral strength asymmetries, possibly predisposing the weaker limb to injury (Knapik et al., 1991). However, this suggestion has yet to be examined through eccentric isokinetic strength assessments. Brughelli and Cronin, (2007) also questioned the ability of the NHE to engage and thus train the hamstring muscles at more extended knee angles. This is the knee angle where most hamstring injuries are reported to occur, late in the forward swing phase of the running action as the hamstring muscle group works eccentrically (i.e., lengthens whist generating tension) to prevent hyperextension of the knee and flexion of the hip (Garrett, 1996), likewise, this postulate has also yet to be examined. To date no research group has systematically evaluated the recruitment characteristics of the hamstrings muscles during the NHE. Additionally, no research group has examined whether bilateral strength asymmetries are present following a training programme incorporating the NHE. Also, eccentric training appears not to be velocity specific (Shepstone et al., 2005); no research group has investigated this phenomenon with a training programme incorporating the NHE.

6

Aims and objectives

Therefore, the aims of this thesis are to:

- 1. Examine the neuromuscular recruitment characteristics of the hamstrings muscle group at various knee joint positions during the NHE.
- 2. Examine if bilateral strength asymmetries between limbs are present following a resistance training programme incorporating the NHE.
- 3. Examine if eccentric training with the NHE results in velocity specific adaptations.

These aims are underpinned by the following objectives: -

- Electromyography data from the hamstrings muscle group will be collected during the performance of the NHE. Comparisons will be made between limbs and through the range of motion of the movement.
- Isokinetic hamstrings peak torque data will be compared between limbs prior to and following a training programme incorporating the NHE to investigate if asymmetries are present.
- 3. Isokinetic hamstrings peak torque data will be collected from a range of angular velocities to investigate if training with the NHE results in velocity specific adaptations.

CHAPTER II Review of Literature

2.1 Introduction

The first section of this chapter reviews the literature on the incidences and location of soccer injuries and what affect this has on players and professional clubs. This is followed by a section reviewing the literature on the aetiology of hamstrings strain injuries and the recent advances in the understanding of this type of injury. Finally, this chapter will review the literature on the role resistance training plays in the prevention of hamstrings strain injuries, focusing specifically on eccentric based training.

2.2 Incidence of injury

Due to the high physical demands put on soccer players (Reilly, 1996) it is not a surprise that the sport of soccer is associated with a relatively high injury rate (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999). A soccer injury has been defined as any physical complaint sustained by a player that results from a football match or football training, irrespective of the need for medical attention or time loss from football activity (Fuller *et al.*, 2006). In this definition an injury that results in a player receiving medical attention is referred to as a 'medical attention' injury and an injury that results in a player being unable to take part in future training or matches is called a 'time loss' injury. The majority of studies adopt the second sub-group of this definition and report injuries that are sustained during a scheduled training session or match which cause a player to miss the next training session or match (Hagglund, 2005a). Using this definition injury incidences have been shown to vary between male and female soccer players, with female soccer players sustaining more injuries overall and during training sessions (Wong and Hong, 2005). This has been attributed to the increased susceptibility of female athletes to knee injuries, especially to the anterior cruciate ligament (Roos *et al.*, 1995; Shea *et al.*, 2004). This is due to the variation in joint laxity and anterior cruciate ligament geometry between male and female athletes (Quatman *et al.*, 2008). It has also been reported that there is a difference between the amount of reported injuries sustained between indoor and outdoor soccer, with the incidences of injuries outdoors almost twice that of indoors (Keller *et al.*, 1987). Based on these differences, the remainder of this review will only consider the findings from studies reviewing outdoor soccer played by male participants.

The overall level of injury to professional soccer players has recently been shown to be around 1000 times higher than that for industrial occupations such as construction and mining which are generally regarded as high risk (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999). In addition, it has recently been reported that the level of injury incidences within professional soccer are considerably higher when compared to most other team sports (Junge *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, following the analysis of two successive population surveys based on sports injuries in the Netherlands, using a broad subjective definition for a sports injury, it has been estimated that 30% of all sports injuries were soccer related (Inklaar *et al.*, 1995). This equates to 800,000 injuries being sustained in the Netherlands between 1987 and 1992 due to the sport of soccer (Inklaar *et al.*, 1995). Additionally, during a prospective study in Sweden where injury was defined as actually visiting a physician due to an acute injury sustained whilst playing sport, soccer was identified as the fourth most likely of seventeen sports to report an injury incident (De Loes, 1988).

The incidence of injury can be quantified by the number of injuries sustained per hours of exposure time (Hagglund *et al.*, 2005a). The incidence of injuries amongst senior male professional soccer players has been estimated to range between 25 and 35 per 1000 game hours (Hawkins and Fuller 1999; Morgan *et al.*, 2001; Junge *et al.*, 2004; Hagglund *et al.*,

2005b). Likewise the injury incidences at the most competitive level of club (UEFA Champions League) and international soccer have been reported to be 30.5 injuries per 1000 competitive game hours (Walden *et al.*, 2005) and in the Swedish national team to be 30.3 injuries per 1000 hours competitive game time (Ekstrand *et al.*, 2004). Recently, these epidemiological studies reporting the incidence of soccer injuries (Hawkins and Fuller 1999; Morgan *et al.*, 2001; Ekstrand *et al.*, 2004; Junge *et al.*, 2004; Hagglund *et al.*, 2005b; Walden *et al.*, 2005) have been criticised for having fundamental differences in their definitions of how time exposure is calculated (Fuller *et al.*, 2006). It is well documented that variations in definitions and methodologies create significant differences in the results and conclusions obtained from studies of sports injuries (Fuller *et al.*, 2006). To evaluate the injury risk for a certain sport the exposure factor needs to be considered. This is usually displayed by the number of injuries per 1000 hours of exposure time (Hagglund *et al.*, 2005a); ideally this should be done by recording the amount of exposure time for each individual, but is often done through estimations based on attendances during training sessions and games (Hagglund *et al.*, 2005a).

Despite this variation in how time exposure is calculated there is conclusive evidence that more injuries are sustained per 1000 hours of exposure time during game situations when compared to training sessions (Engestrom *et al.*, 1990; Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Morgan *et al.*, 2001; Ekstrand *et al.*, 2004; Walden *et al.*, 2005; Wong and Hong., 2005). It has been reported that the injuries per 1000 hours of exposure time for senior soccer players was between 2.9 and 3.5 during training and between 13 and 35.3 during game time respectively (Engestrom *et al.*, 1990; Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Morgan *et al.*, 2001). This suggests that the competitive nature of a game situation increases the risk of a player sustaining an injury. Likewise, the injury incidences during international soccer and at the most competitive level of club soccer (UEFA Champions League) show a similar trend towards a higher reported injury incidence in a game situation compared with training,

with 5.8 injuries per 1000 training hours training time and 30.3 and 30.5 injuries per 1000 competitive game hours respectively (Ekstrand et al., 2004; Walden et al., 2005). Interestingly, the incidence of injuries in training is slightly higher at the most competitive levels of soccer (Ekstrand et al., 2004; Walden et al., 2005). The authors described this increase as the result of more competition for playing positions at the top clubs and at international level making the players more competitive during training. Despite this higher prevalence of injuries during training at the top level, the level of injuries during game situations appears to plateau at around 30 injuries per 1000 hours exposure (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Ekstrand et al., 2004; Walden et al., 2005). Interestingly many authors have also reported a trend for more injuries to be reported at the end of each half and later in a game (Hawkins and fuller 1999; Hawkins et al., 2001; Junge et al., 2004, Yoon et al., 2004; Woods et al., 2004), implying that fatigue may influence the occurrence of an injury. The high incidence of injury in the senior professional game is broadly mirrored in youth soccer. Two early epidemiological studies investigated injuries within adolescent team sports and concluded that soccer was in the top four most likely sports to cause injury (Backx et al., 1991; De Leos, 1995). Specifically within junior soccer it has been reported that 4.1 injuries per 1000 hours training time and 37.2 injuries per 1000 hours game time were sustained (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999). The slightly higher incidences of injury during game time compared to the senior game has been explained by youth players spending more of their time playing in games and less time training than the senior players (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999). However, in contrast to the findings of Hawkins and Fuller, (1999), it has been reported that in a 10 season study at the most elite level of junior soccer in France that a total of 4.8 injuries per 1000 hours exposure time were recorded and 11.2 and 3.9 injuries per 1000 hours for games and training, respectively (Le Gall et al., 2006). This suggests that the incidence of soccer related injuries appear to be less in junior soccer compared to the senior game.

An early study which reviewed 2 junior and 4 senior epidemiological studies from the US and Europe concluded that soccer injury rates increase with age, with senior and professional players sustaining 15 to 30 times as many injuries as junior players (Keller et al. 1987). Additionally, more recently it has been reported that the injury incidences at youth academy level are approximately half that of the senior professional game (Price et al., 2004). Data obtained from the 38 English academy clubs over two competitive seasons reported that, on average 0.4 players per season were injured and on average 21.9 days of training were missed due to an injury, with on average 2.31 games missed per injury (Price et al., 2004). Data obtained from 91 senior professional football clubs over two competitive seasons (1997-1999) reported that the average injury rate within professional senior soccer was higher at 1.3 players per season, with on average 24.2 days training missed due to an injury, with on average 4 games missed per injury (Hawkins et al. 2001). These data also suggests that the incidence and time lost related to injuries appear to be more frequent and severe in the senior professional game. The reason for this has been suggested to be that most academy players have much less exposure time to sustain an injury, as players up to the age of 17 usually only train twice a week and play at weekends (Price et al., 2004).

Despite the frequency and the time lost because of an injury appearing to be less in junior soccer, the issue of absence from training and competitive matches has to be considered from a different viewpoint at youth academy level as player development and skills acquisition are of up-most importance at this stage of the player's career (Price *et al.*, 2004). At youth academy level on average each injury stops the player participating in normal activities for 21.9 days, and each player is injured on average 0.4 times per season (Price *et al.*, 2004). This equates to the player missing about 6% of the season and consequently a large portion of his development (Price *et al.*, 2004). It has been hypothesized that a player must practice slightly over 3 hours a day for ten years to achieve

maximal skill development (Ericsson *et al.*, 1994). This figure would be hard to achieve if 6% of a players time was lost through injury (Price *et al.*, 2004).

In professional soccer, the impact of a players injury to the club can be measured by the number of competitive matches missed (Price et al., 2004). During two seasons (2003-2005) individual absences at an English division one soccer club from either training or a competitive game were documented on a comprehensive daily register (Parry *et al.*, 2006). An absence was defined as the unavailability to train or play in a competitive game irrespective of reason. Absentees totaled 378 for first team matches and 1441 for training sessions. Of these absentees, reportable injuries accounted for 49% of first team match unavailability and 60% of training sessions missed (Parry et al., 2006). These results indicate that the single biggest factor for a soccer player's absence is a soccer-related injury (Parry et al., 2006). First team player's absences may lead to a reduced club income due to reduced match attendances, and diminishing prize money as a result of low league position, and early cup competition exits (Woods et al., 2002). Additionally, absentees due to injury can be evaluated against the cost of a player's wages (Price et al., 2004). The Premier League clubs total wage costs alone was predicted to exceed £1 billion for the first time in 2007/08 (Jones, 2007). Given that 10% of all squads were unavailable to train each week because of injury (Hawkins et al., 2001) the projected financial loss in squad members wages due to injury for that season was ± 100 million. In addition, the cost of an injury to a club could be included in the form of medical fees and increased insurance premiums (Woods et al., 2002). Consequently, efforts must be made not only to prevent injuries occurring but also to rehabilitate players sufficiently following injury.

2.3 Location of injury

Numerous studies have reported that the majority of soccer related injuries occur at the lower extremity (Wong and Hong, 2005). Expressed as a percentage of total injuries, it is

generally reported that between 65-90% of all injuries in youth soccer players (Elias, 2001; Junge *et al.*, 2003; Price *et al.*, 2004) and between 85-95% of all soccer injuries in senior soccer players (Elkenstrand and Gillquist, 1983; Nielsen and Yde, 1989; Yde and Nielsen, 1990; Hawkins and Fuller 1999; Hawkins *et al.*, 2001) occur at the lower extremity. The high proportion of lower extremity injuries in soccer has been attributable to the nature of the sport and the high demands placed on the lower extremity. There is evidence of a predominance of injuries to the dominant limb (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Hawkins *et al.*, 2001; Price *et al.*, 2004). This phenomenon may be attributed to the preferential use of the dominant limb in activities such as kicking, jumping and tackling, therefore increasing injury risk (Rahnama *et al.*, 2003).

Early epidemiological studies reported that the ankle was the location for the highest incidences of injuries in soccer players (Prichett, 1981; Nielsen and Yde, 1989; Engstrom et al., 1991), although more recently the thigh has consistently been reported to be the major site for injury in soccer players (Kibler, 1993; Inklaar, 1996; Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Hawkins et al., 2001; Woods et al., 2002; Price et al., 2004; Junge et al., 2004; Hagglund et al., 2005b; Walden et al., 2005). This apparent change could be due to the increase in physical demand put upon players in activities such as running and sprinting in the modern game (Reilly, 1996). This phenomenon is supported by the fact it has been reported that the high proportion of injuries at the thigh can be explained by the high incidence of muscle strain injury, particularly to the hamstrings muscle group (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Hawkins et al., 2001; Woods et al., 2002; Price et al., 2003). Video analysis of the hamstrings strain injury has revealed that the injury is typically sustained during running activities (Verrall et al., 2005), late in the forward swing phase of the running action as the muscle group works eccentrically (i.e., lengthens whist generating tension) to prevent hyperextension of the knee and flexion of the hip (Garrett, 1996). This observation is confirmed by the literature where there is no reported difference in the

incidence of hamstrings injury between the dominant (DOM) and non-dominant (NDOM) limbs (Woods *et al.*, 2004), suggesting that during the running action both limbs are susceptible to a hamstrings strain injury (Woods *et al.*, 2004). Biceps femoris appears to be the most commonly injured hamstrings muscle (Woods *et al.*, 2004). The reason for this is suggested to be because of the bi-articular make up of this muscle (Coburn, 2002), as during activities like sprinting the bi-articular biceps femoris muscle has to cope with high internal forces and rapid changes in muscle length and mode of muscle action (Pull and Ranson, 2007). The biceps femoris has been reported to account for 53% of all reported cases of hamstrings strain injuries (Woods *et al.*, 2004). Hamstrings injuries have also been reported to be localised at the myotendinous junction (Safran *et al.*, 1988; Garrett, 1996). It is possible that the oblique arrangement of the muscle's fibres in this region may reduce their ability to withstand high tensile forces (Noonan and Garrett, 1992), rendering them prone to damage.

During a two season period (1997 – 1999) the single highest figure reported within 91 professional clubs for the location of an injury was the thigh; 23% of all injuries were reported in this location (Hawkins *et al.*, 2001). Of these thigh injuries, 81% were muscle strains, and 67% were in the hamstrings region (Hawkins *et al.*, 2001). There is a similar trend for the location of an injury within soccer youth academies, where 19% of all injuries occurred in the thigh; of these thigh injuries 79% were classified as strains and 57% of the strains in the thigh were reported to be in the hamstrings muscle group (Price *et al.*, 2004). Specifically, the Football Association Medical Research Programme quantified that 12% of all injuries reported from 91 professional clubs over a two season period (1997-1999) were hamstrings strains (Woods *et al.*, 2004). A total of 796 hamstring injuries were reported, this being more than any other muscle group (Woods *et al.*, 2004). There was a trend for an increase in reported hamstring injuries in the higher leagues (Woods *et al.*, 2004), confirming that more injuries occur at the more competitive levels of football

(Engestrom *et al.*, 1990; Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Hawkins *et al.*, 2001; Morgan *et al.*, 2001; Walden *et al.*, 2005). The total number of days that players were absent over the two-season period due to a hamstrings strain was 13,116, and a total of 2029 games were missed, giving an average of 18 days and 3 games missed per hamstrings strain injury (Woods *et al.*, 2004). A total of 5 hamstring strains per club per season were reported; this resulted in 15 matches and 90 days missed per club per season (Woods *et al.*, 2004).

2.4 Summary of epidemiological studies

Current research suggests that the overall level of injury within soccer is unacceptable when compared to other industrial occupations and other team sports (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Junge et al., 2004). The incidence of injuries is higher within the senior professional game than the junior game (Hawkins et al., 2001, Price et al., 2003). More competitive game situations and training sessions contribute to an increase in injury incidence (Engestrom et al., 1990; Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Hawkins et al., 2001; Morgan et al., 2001; Walden et al., 2005) and more injuries are sustained later in halves and games (Hawkins and fuller 1999; Hawkins et al., 2001; Junge et al., 2004, Yoon et al., 2004; Woods et al., 2004), suggesting fatigue may contribute to the susceptibility of an individual to injury. The single biggest factor contributing to the absence of a professional football player from a competitive game or training session is a soccer related injury (Parry et al., 2006). Player absentees at the professional level can lead to a huge financial loss to the professional clubs (Woods et al., 2002; Price et al., 2004). Absentees at youth academy level leads to time lost because of injury, which can substantially effect a player's development (Price et al., 2004). Recently the thigh has been consistently reported as the major site for injury (Nielsen and Yde, 1989; Kibler, 1993; Inklaar, 1996; Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Hawkins et al., 2001; Woods et al., 2002; Price et al., 2004; Junge et al., 2004; Hagglund et al., 2005b). This high proportion of injuries at the thigh is explained by the high incidence of muscle strain injury, particularly to the hamstrings muscle group

(Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Hawkins *et al.*, 2001; Woods *et al.*, 2002; Price *et al.*, 2003). Consequently, implementing a programme that can prevent strains to the posterior thigh in soccer players would serve to increase player's availability and, as a result at the professional level, improve club success and increase clubs revenue. At youth academy level a similar programme would improve the development of players through an increase in time for enhancement of skills.

2.5 Actiology of hamstring injuries

Despite an expanse of literature dedicated to the aetiology of the hamstrings strain injury (reviews Worrell, 1994; Croisier, 2004), the exact cause is still unclear. A variety of factors have been implicated (Croisier, 2004); the most plausible traditional suggestions and the recent advances in the understanding of the hamstrings strain injury are discussed in the following section.

2.6 Traditional suggested contributing factors

Traditionally suggested factors for the hamstrings muscle strain include an inadequate or lack of warm-up, inadequate stretching, poor fitness level and inadequate training modalities, fatigue, poor flexibility and previous injury (Croisier, 2004).

The warm up is the unavoidable stage that occurs at the beginning of a sports session; this facilitates an increase in connective tissue extensibility, which is temperature dependent (Garrett, 1996). As a result of this increase in muscle temperature the muscle can stretch more and absorb more force before failure (Safran *et al.*, 1988). Therefore a warm-up before exercise seems critical because of the capability of the musculotendinous unit to absorb energy is directly proportional to both resting length and muscle temperature (Safran *et al.*, 1988). The implementation of a structured warm-up designed to increase muscle temperature, with the emphasis on awareness of knees and ankles during standing,

running, cutting, jumping and landing, led to a reduction in reported knee and ankle injuries in youths playing sports (Olsen, *et al.*, 2005). This suggests that a structured warm-up serves to increase the resting length and temperature of muscle, which increases the amount of force the muscle can absorb. Increasing the amount of force the muscle can absorb may reduce the incidences of reported injuries.

It has long been recommended that participants stretch before exercise, this belief is based on the notion that a 'tight' muscle unit is less compliant, which may increase the risk of injury. Despite this, there is empirical evidence that stretching before exercise does not reduce the risk of injury (Shrier, 1999; Herbert and Gabriel, 2002; Witvrouw et al., 2004). Inadequate pre-season training resulting in low fitness levels, which ultimately leads to the early fatigue of muscles, has been suggested to contribute to increased injury rate during the season (Hawkins et al., 2001). Fatigue is frequently suggested as a contributor to hamstrings injuries (Garrett, 1996); as epidemiological evidence in soccer indicates hamstrings strains regularly occur at the end of each half and later in the game (Hawkins and fuller 1999, Hawkins et al., 2001; Junge et al., 2004; Yoon et al., 2004; Woods et al., 2004). Research into rabbits' muscles has showed that fatigue results in the amount of energy absorbed by the fatigued muscle to be reduced (Mair et al., 1996). Also within soccer, running or sprinting is the single activity that contributes most to a hamstrings strain injury (Price et al., 2003; Woods et al., 2004; Verrall et al., 2005). The action of running is a multi-segmental action, which requires co-ordination between the proximal (thigh) and distal (shank) (Putnam, 1991). The presence of fatigue during multi-segmental tasks can result in alterations in muscle activation patterns (Forestier et al., 1998; Huffens et al., 2006). In particular, the dual innervation of biceps femoris could lead to asynchrony in the activation of separate parts of the muscle and result in inefficiencies (Croisier, 2004). This situation amplifies fatigue and could predispose the athlete to subsequent injury (Croisier, 2004).

Soccer specific protocols designed to mimic the intensities of soccer match play have been utilised to fatigue muscles similarly to that of a game situation (Drust et al., 2000; Nicholas et al., 2000). It has been reported that soccer specific fatigue leads to a reduction in the both the conventional (hamstrings concentric peak torque production in relation to the quadriceps concentric peak torque production) hamstrings to quadriceps ratio (Rahnama et al. 2003), and more recently, to the functional (hamstrings peak eccentric torque in relation to the quadriceps peak concentric torque) hamstrings to quadriceps ratio (Greig, 2008). Interestingly, it has also been reported that the functional hamstrings to quadriceps ratio was not only reduced at the end of the game relative to the first 15 minutes but also in the first 15 minutes following the half time interval (Grieg 2008). These findings are in accordance with epidemiological studies, which have reported an increase in reported injuries at these specific times (Hawkins and fuller 1999; Hawkins et al., 2001; Junge et al., 2004; Yoon et al., 2004; Woods et al., 2004). This evidence suggests that muscle fatigue representative of soccer match play may be a factor in the development of a hamstrings injury; not only because it reduces the hamstrings to quadriceps ratio, which has been suggested as a predictor of a players susceptibility to a hamstrings strain injury (Croisier et al., 2008), but also it may lead to alterations in muscle activation patterns specifically to the biceps femoris muscle, the muscle where most hamstrings injuries occur (Woods et al., 2004).

However, surprisingly laboratory based studies have reported that eccentric actions appear not to be as influenced by muscle fatigue as other types of muscle actions (Tesch *et al.*, 1990; Pull and Ranson, 2007). This is even more surprising when you consider that during eccentric actions there is a preferential recruitment of low endurance, high threshold motor units (Tesch *et al.*, 1990). An explanation for this phenomenon is the added mechanical advantage of lengthening actions, such as greater absorption and storage (Lastayo *et al.*, 2003). This is suggested to lead to eccentric actions being more efficient compared to concentric and isometric actions. In addition, less motor units are recruited during eccentric actions compared to concentric and isometric actions (Tesch *et al.*, 1990). This theory is confirmed as increases in oxygen consumption are insignificant in eccentric action in comparison to isometric or concentric actions (Dudley *et al.*, 1991), and a relatively low ATP turnover and a reduced production of lactate during eccentric actions compared to concentric actions have been reported (Ryschon *et al.*, 1997; Horstmann *et al.*, 2001). These findings would suggest that eccentric actions are less susceptible to fatigue when compared to concentric and isometric and isometric actions.

Studies have reported strength impairments following eccentric exercise. These strength impairments manifest into disturbances in force production (Pull and Ranson, 2007). This force reduction has been attributed to factors such as excitation-contraction coupling impairment, mechanical adaptations within the muscle (sarcomergenesis), an increased susceptibility to damage of fast twitch fibres, and impaired glycogen resynthesis (Bryne *et al.*, 2004). As it appears that most muscle damage occurs during eccentric actions when the muscle is fatigued it is logical to train an athlete under these conditions to prevent future muscle damage.

The view of some authors is that a lack of flexibility has not been conclusively linked to a risk of hamstrings injuries (Devlin, 2000; Rolls *et al.*, 2004). In fact, it has been argued that poor flexibility could be a consequence of muscle injury rather than a cause of muscle injury (Rolls *et al.*, 2004). However, it has been proposed that soccer players with an increased tightness of the hamstrings have a statistically higher risk of developing a lesion on that muscle group (Witvrouw *et al.* 2003). Interestingly, it has been shown that an

imbalance in range of motion between the left and right limbs, led to a 1.7 times more likely chance of experiencing a strain or sprain injury compared to a more balanced range of motion (Knapik et al., 1991). There is also experimental evidence in humans to suggest an association between flexibility and muscle injury (McHugh et al., 1999). Exercise involving predominantly eccentric actions frequently causes muscle damage, resulting in delayed onset muscle soreness (McHugh et al., 1999). Passive muscle stiffness plays a key role in delayed onset muscle soreness symptoms; this phenomenon can possibly be explained by tendon-aponeurosis (McHugh et al., 1999). Active lengthening of a stiff muscle whilst the tendon is rigid could result in myofibrillar strain; conversely, the tendon of a compliant muscle would be able to partially absorb lengthening, which may limit myofibrillar strain (Croisier, 2004). However, the symptoms of delayed onset muscle soreness do not manifest until 24 hours post exercise; therefore this theory does not explain hamstrings strain injuries that occur during matches or training sessions, unless eccentric exercise was performed in the days preceding the game or training session in which the injury was sustained. An imbalance in the range of motion (flexibility) between limbs has been suggested to increase the risk of injury (Knapik et al., 1991), implying that flexibility may contribute to an increase in the occurrence of hamstrings injuries. Also, in activities that are predominantly eccentric (i.e. the hamstrings during running and sprinting), the symptoms of DOMS include an increase in muscle stiffness (flexibility); these symptoms may lead to an increase in hamstrings strain injury as less of the muscle is able to absorb lengthening due to an increase in the muscles stiffness (flexibility).

Previous injury has also been shown to be associated with an increase in injury rate within both junior (Kucera *et al.*, 2005) and senior (Hagglund *et al.*, 2006) levels of soccer. The reoccurrence rate of hamstrings strains in soccer players has been shown to be relatively high compared to the reoccurrence of other reported injuries (Woods *et al.*, 2004). These findings question the efficacy of current rehabilitation programmes consisting of rest, cryotherapy, anti-inflammatory drugs, compression, elevation and physical therapy (Noonan and Garrett, 1999) for preventing further hamstrings strain injuries. Hamstrings strain injuries are typically sustained during running activities (Verrall *et al.*, 2005), late in the forward swing phase of the running action as the hamstrings muscle group works eccentrically (Garrett, 1996). This suggests that training methods designed to strengthening the hamstrings during eccentric actions may be a more appropriate method to prevent or rehabilitate an individual from a hamstrings strain injury.

2.7 Recent advances

Recent advances in the understanding of factors that may contribute to the aetiology of hamstrings strain injuries suggest that a weakness in the eccentric strength of the hamstrings, and by virtue the reciprocal muscle strength balance between the quadriceps and hamstrings about the knee, and the length tension relationship of the hamstrings muscle group, may be more realistic determinant of a participants susceptibility to a hamstrings strain injury.

The ratio of maximal isokinetic hamstrings muscle strength relative to maximal isokinetic quadriceps muscles strength is a measure of the muscle strength properties about the knee (Baltzopoulos and Brodie, 1989). Early epidemiological studies using the conventional method of assessing the strength properties about the knee concluded that hamstrings strains were significantly associated with a low hamstrings to quadriceps ratio of peak torque production on the injured limb (Knapik *et al.*, 1991; Orchard *et al.*, 1997). Recently a more accurate way of reporting the hamstrings to quadriceps ratios has been developed; this ratio is called the functional hamstrings to quadriceps ratio (Dvir *et al.*, 1989; Aagaard *et al.*, 1995). In the functional hamstrings to quadriceps ratio if the hamstrings eccentric peak torque is equal to the peak concentric quadriceps torque then the ratio is 1:1; if the quadriceps are stronger, then the ratio will be less than 1; a ratio of less than one is

hypothesised to lead to a increased risk of injury (Hughes *et al.*, 2006). An early study using the both the conventional and functional assessment of hamstrings to quadriceps ratio reported that a low hamstrings to quadriceps strength ratio was not related to hamstrings strain injuries (Bennell *et al.*, 1998). More recently it has been identified that the functional assessment of hamstrings to quadriceps ratio was highly specific, when compared to the conventional assessment, in identifying players at risk for injury, with 187 of 216 players showing an imbalance in this strength assessment (Croisier *et al.*, 2008).

Interestingly, more recent studies have not only used both concentric and eccentric isokinetic testing to determine whether strength asymmetries could be a predictor for future hamstrings strain injuries, but also monitored the effectiveness of rehabilitation programmes designed to correct muscle imbalances between the hamstring and quadricep muscles (Croisier et al., 2002; Croisier et al., 2008). Croisier et al. (2002) identified 18 subjects who were found to have strength deficits, in either between limbs or in hamstrings to quadriceps ratios. Where imbalances were present, subjects followed 10 to 30 further sessions specifically designed to correct imbalances. No further hamstring injuries were sustained in the subjects who were corrected for imbalances in the following 12 months. Likewise, in a second study by the same author (Croisier et al., 2008) 462 players were assessed for strength imbalances; 216 players with preseason abnormalities in either bilateral or hamstrings to quadriceps ratio were identified. Of the 462 players assessed, 35 hamstrings strain injuries were recorded. The rate of hamstrings muscle injury was significantly higher in the players with untreated strength imbalances in comparison to players showing no strength imbalances in preseason. Also normalising the isokinetic muscle imbalances through training programmes, incorporating both concentric and eccentric modes of training at different angular velocities depending on the weakness of the individual (Croisier et al., 2002), reduced the risk factor for a hamstrings strain injury

in the forth coming season. This suggests that outcomes of isokinetic strength testing can be a predictor of a players susceptibility to a hamstrings strain injury, and training designed to rehabilitate imbalances can reduce the likelihood of a future injury.

The majority of training at professional clubs is dedicated to tactical and technical aspects of the game, and therefore limited time is dedicated to increasing muscle strength through resistance training (Iga *et al.*, In press). It has been suggested that a weakness in eccentric strength of the hamstrings muscles might cause hamstrings strain injuries (Stanton and Purdam, 1989). Recently it has been reported that muscle loading patterns during soccer training and match-play may asymmetrically develop the strength of the knee joint muscles in favour of quadriceps dominance (Iga *et al.*, In Press). The finding from this investigation suggests that the muscle loading patterns experienced during soccer may negatively alter the reciprocal balance of strength between the hamstrings and quadriceps muscles for knee extensions performed at high velocity (Iga *et al.*, In Press). This implies that traditional training methods adopted at professional clubs, with the emphasis on technical and tactical skills development without compensatory resistance training, may contribute to an increase in the susceptibility of a player to a hamstrings strain injury.

It is when high velocity knee extension movements, identified by Iga *et al.* (In Press) to be where the reciprocal balance of the hamstrings and quadriceps may be negatively altered due to the muscle loading patterns of soccer match play, are performed during maximal velocity running that most hamstrings strain injuries occur (Price *et al.*, 2004; Woods *et al.*, 2004; Verrall *et al.*, 2005). It has also been demonstrated that during a running cycle the EMG activity is greatest during the late swing phase (Jonhagen *et al.*, 1996), and it is during the late swing phase of the running action that the hamstrings are contracted eccentrically (Garrett, 1996). Therefore, hamstrings strains are thought to occur during

maximal running whilst the hamstrings are performing an eccentric action, and low hamstring strength has been identified as a risk factor (Arnason *et al.*, 2006). Advances have implicated the microscopic damage to muscle caused by eccentric actions in the occurrence of a hamstrings strain injuries (Brockett *et al.*, 2004). It is well documented that eccentric muscle actions cause damage to muscle (McHugh *et al.*, 1999). Muscle damage may occur as a result of non-uniform lengthening of individual sarcomeres (Morgan, 1990). It is postulated that the initial damage occurs beyond the optimal length, on the descending limb of the muscle's length-tension relation (Brockett *et al.*, 2004). It may be that the repeated eccentric muscle actions during running may aggravate an initial injury, leading to a more serious injury late in the game or training session (Brockett *et al.*, 2001; Proske and Morgan, 2001).

Researchers have observed a shift in the optimal angle for eccentric torque production, to more extended joint positions, following specific eccentric resistance-training of the hamstrings (Brockett *et al.*, 2001; Clark *et al.*, 2005). This shift in the angle for optimal eccentric torque production may be in response to an increase in the number of sarcomeres in muscle fibres following resistance-training (Morgan, 1990). Increasing the series of muscle fibres may allow muscle fibres to operate at longer muscle lengths (Brockett *et al.*, 2001), which in turn may increase the working range of motion of the hamstrings relative to the length-tension relation, conferring protection against initial micro-damage by preventing fibres from reaching a length where they are susceptible to initial damage and a subsequent tear (Proske and Morgan, 2001).

Supporting evidence for the inclusion of eccentric based resistance training, whether it be to increase weakness in the eccentric strength of the hamstrings, compensate strength imbalances about the knee, or to modify the length tension relationship of the hamstrings muscle group, is provided by authors who have reported a significant reduction in the incidence and severity of hamstrings injury in professional rugby and soccer players following specific training of the hamstrings muscles during eccentric modes of exercise (Askling *et al.*, 2001; Mjølsnes *et al.*, 2004; Brooks *et al.*, 2006).

2.8 Summary of aetiology

Quantifying the respective role of each of the factors highlighted above as contributors to a hamstrings injury is complicated and is more realistically illustrated as a combination of factors (Croisier, 2004). Recent advances in the aetiology of hamstrings strain injuries suggested that muscle loading patterns during soccer play asymmetrically develops the strength of the knee joint muscles in favour of quadriceps dominance (Iga et al., In Press), and fatigue protocols designed to mimic the intensities of soccer match play have been shown to reduce the hamstrings to quadriceps ratio later in the game (Rahnama et al., 2003; Greig, 2008). Imbalances in a player's hamstrings to quadriceps ratio have been shown to be an indicator in a participant's susceptibility to future hamstrings injuries (Croisier et al., 2002; Crosier et al., 2008). Also, a weakness in eccentric strength of the hamstrings (Stanton and Purdam, 1989) and a reduced working range of motion of the hamstrings muscle, represented by a reduction in the isokinetic optimum torque angle of the knee flexors (Brockett et al., 2001), have been identified as factors contributing to the risk of hamstring strain injuries. This evidence suggests that resistance training to increase the strength of the hamstrings, particularly in an eccentric action, and increasing the working range of motion of the hamstrings is of up-most importance in reducing a soccer player's susceptibility to a hamstrings strain injury. Secondly, identifying players with knee strength abnormalities through pre season assessments and correcting these abnormalities through rehabilitation programmes should be a priority at professional clubs so as to reduce future injuries.

2.9 Electromyography

Electromyography (EMG) is the discipline that deals with the detection, analysis, and use of the electrical signal that emanates from contracting muscles (De Luca, 2006). Within the last 50 years a particular speciality within EMG has been developed called Kinesiological electromyography (Soderberg and Knutson, 2000). The aim of this type of EMG is to study the muscular function and co-ordination of muscles during movement (Clarys and Cabri, 1993).

The following key areas regarding the collection and analysis of electromyography data will be reviewed in the next few chapters

- Skin Preparation
- Electrode Placement
- Normalisation

2.10 Skin Preparation

Surface electrodes are subject to movement which in turn disturbs the electrode and skin equilibrium and so causes a change in the recorded electrode potential (Gleeson, 2001). Electrode gels or pre-gelled electrodes are required to minimise this change by moving the electrode away from the skin so that movement of the skin does not affect the metal-electrolyte junction and the potential is unaltered (Gleeson, 2001). In addition, it is important to prepare the skin before electrode placement. This is required to reduce the impedance at the electrode-skin barrier from external electrical activity and electromagnetic sources (Gleeson, 2001). Light abrasion of the skin is a suggested technique required for skin preparation (Basmajian *et al.*, 1975), although it is generally accepted that when using surface electrodes the minimum skin preparation should be to degrease the skin with acetone or alcohol wipes (Gleeson, 2001).

2.11 Electrode Placement

Electrodes can either be placed upon the skin or within the muscle itself, electrodes that are placed upon the skin are referred to as surface electrodes. Scientists working in the sports or occupational environment prefer to use surface electrodes instead of indwelling electrodes (Clarys, 2000), as indwelling electrodes are considered to be invasive (Clarys and Cabri, 1993), and have limited application in kinesiological EMG as they are primarily designed to measure single muscle fibre activity (Soderberg and Knutson, 2000).

As the most accurate EMG signals are obtained from the muscle belly area (Clarys, 2000), and surface electrodes can be subjected to cross-talk from other electrodes (Basmajian and De Luca, 1985) the placement of the electrode is of up most importance. The first consideration is to place the electrode away from the motor end plate (De Luca and Knaflitz, 1990), which is located at the border of a muscle (Clarys, 2000). Secondly, the electrode should not be placed near or over the myotendonous junction (De Luca, 1997). Thirdly the electrode should not be placed near the lateral border of the muscle as this electrode placement could possibly be effected by cross-talk (De Luca, 1997). Consequently, four main methods are presented that conform to these requirements

- The electrode should be placed over the visual midpoint of the contracted muscle (Clarys, 1985).
- The electrode should be placed in relation to standard distances from reference points i.e. anthropometric landmarks (Clarys, 2000).
- The electrode should be placed over the midline of the muscle belly between the nearest innervation zone and the myotendonous junction (Clarys and Cabri, 1993; Basmajian and De Luca, 1985; Gleeson, 2001).
- A combination of these approaches (Clarys, 2000).

28

2.12 Normalisation

Due to the known variability of EMG signal between subjects and trials due to electrode placement and skin preparation a normalisation procedure is required to reduce variability (Yang and Winter, 1984; Clarys, 2000). Normalisation is the process which allows for referencing the EMG data to some standard value, usually by dividing the raw EMG data by a reference value (Soderberg and Knutson, 2000). Unfortunately it is still unknown which is the best figure to use for normalisation, although there have been trends developed in the past few years to use certain methods in certain situation.

It has been suggested to either normalise against the EMG recorded in a pre determined maximum voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) or against the peak dynamic EMG data collected during the movement of interest (Yang and Winter, 1984; Clarys, 2000; Soderberg and Knutson, 2000). The use of pre determined maximum voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) is generally accepted in the literature (Soderberg and Knutson, 2000), and is ideal as a figure for reference in static applications (Clarys, 2000). This is due to the figure collected during MVIC being the most reliable when compared to alternative normalisation techniques such as mean or peak dynamic or isokinetic MVC (Burden and Bartlett, 1999; Bolga and Uhl, 2007). However, for dynamic activities the use of MVIC is debatable as recently many authors have reported that the EMG signal recorded in the dynamic activity is higher than that reported in the isometric activity, resulting in figures greater than 100% (Clarys and Cabri, 1993; Clarys, 2000). The literature to date implies that the selection of an appropriate normalisation technique is still based on logic or opinion and therefore is dependent on the author's viewpoint (Soderberg and Knutson, 2000). However based on the suggestions of Clarys and Cabri, (1993) and Clarys, (2000) normalising to the peak EMG activity during the movement would be more appropriate for dynamic activities.
2.13 The role of resistance training in preventing hamstring strain injuries

Resistance training is generally recognised amongst industry professionals to be beneficial to a sportsperson for both injury prevention and sports enhancement (Askling *et al.*, 2003). This has led to strength training being advocated as a preventative measure in order to avoid hamstrings muscle injuries (Stanton and Purdam, 1989). This recommendation is based around evidence from experiments on animal muscles, which have revealed that a stronger muscle can absorb more energy prior to failure than a weaker muscle (Garrett, 1990; 1996). Also there is empirical evidence within humans showing a reduction in the incidences of musculoligamentous injury following the introduction of a progressive programme of resistance training (Askling *et al.*, 2003; Mjølsnes *et al.*, 2004; Brooks *et al.*, 2006).

An eccentric muscle action is described as when the force applied to the muscle exceeds that of which the muscle can produce and hence the muscle is lengthened whilst generating tension (Hortobagyi, 2003). Conventional resistance training consists of performing concentric (muscle shortening) and eccentric (muscle lengthening) actions (Hortobagyi, 2003). Traditional machine weights and free weights exercises combine these actions through agonist and antagonist muscle activation about a joint to perform a movement. A variety of free and machine weights exercises have been recommended for training the hamstrings muscles.

Traditionally the back squat has been proscribed as an exercise to develop the hamstrings (Wright *et al.*, 1999), although recent evidence has shown that the motor unit activation of the hamstrings is greater during stiff leg dead lifts (Wright *et al.*, 1999). In addition, it is well documented that most hamstring strain injuries occur during the late swing phase of the running action (i.e. more extended joint positions) (Stanton and Purdam, 1989). Isear *et al.* (1997) demonstrated that during the squat exercise the EMG activity in the

hamstrings was at its greatest in the hold position at the bottom of the squat and at the most flexed knee position during the movement $(90 - 60^\circ)$. These findings suggest the squat is not an appropriate exercise to proscribe an individual to prevent or rehabilitate from a hamstrings injury, as the knee angle where the hamstrings are activated during the movement is not the knee angle where most hamstring injuries appear to occur. Consequently, exercises that engage the hamstrings at the knee angle where hamstring injuries appear to occur (extended knee positions) need to identified. The dead lift is another hamstring exercise, which is often proscribed to individuals with weak hamstrings (Wright et al., 1999). Escamilla et al. (2002) demonstrated that the activation of the hamstrings during the dead lift movement was at its greatest at the more extended joint positions $(0 - 30^{\circ} \text{ knee angle})$. These findings suggest that the activation of the hamstring during the dead lift exercise is greatest at the knee angles where most hamstring strain injuries occur. Despite this, the dead lift exercise is a movement that combines both concentric and eccentric actions of the hamstrings (Escamilla et al., 2002). There is increasing amount of evidence pointing towards the advantages of including training optimising eccentric actions to the hamstrings in a strength regime for preventing hamstrings injuries (Proske and Morgan, 2001). It has also been reported that the majority of hamstring strain injuries occur during an eccentric action (Garrett, 1990). In accordance with the principle of training specificity, which denotes that muscle adapts specifically to the mechanical and metabolic stresses to which it is exposed (Baechle, 2000), to induce optimal developments in the eccentric strength of muscle, resistance training methods that emphasis an eccentric action should be utilised. Therefore the dead lift may not be an appropriate exercise to proscribe an individual to prevent or rehabilitate them from a hamstrings strain injury as this exercise combines both concentric and eccentric actions of the hamstrings. Hence, an eccentric based exercise for the hamstrings needs to be identified.

Over the last 10 years interest in eccentric actions and adaptations to this type of training has grown substantially (Brughelli and Cronin, 2007). During eccentric contractions force steeply rises as the muscle is lengthened at increasing velocities; in contrast, during concentric contractions force declines when muscle is shortened at increasing velocities (Hortobagyi, 2003). This can result in over one and a half times the maximal concentric load being moved during eccentric actions (Enoka, 1996). Therefore, in order to stimulate a muscle sufficiently to develop eccentric strength, an eccentric training overload equivalent to at least 120% of a concentric one repetition maximum is recommended (Tan, 1999). Traditionally this type of training requires mechanically loading extra weight in the eccentric phase of the movement, therefore this approach to eccentric training is far more involving (Hortobagyi, 2003) and often requires multiple 'spotters'. Hence, training eccentrically is logistically no easy feat (Hortobagyi, 2003). It has been suggested that by performing the eccentric component of a free weights or machines weights movement at a deliberately slow velocity the exposure of muscle to eccentric overloading is increased and this may serve as a stimulus for developing eccentric muscle strength, although this method is scientifically unproven (Hortobagyi, 2003).

Specialised resistance training machines, initially designed for resistance training in microgravity, have recently been utilised in resistance training programmes to induce eccentric overload upon a muscle group (Askling *et al.*, 2003; Tesch *et al.*, 2004; Greenwood *et al.*, 2007; Norrbrand *et al.*, 2008). Such devices are different to conventional gravity dependent training devices (machine and free weights) in that they use the inertia produced by a rotating flywheel to provide resistance to the participant (Berg and Tesch, 1992; Berg and Tesch, 1994). Traditional gravity dependent devices rely on the effect of gravity upon a load to provide resistance to the participant (Norrbrand *et al.*, 2008). The flywheel device works by the force applied during the concentric action upon the lever arm pulling a strap which is attached to the flywheel; in turn this imparts spin to the flywheel against its inertia. Following the concentric action the flywheel will then start to recoil by virtue of its rotary inertia, thus reversing the direction of the movement. It is as the participant resists the recoil of the strap that the muscle performs an eccentric action. The advantage of this type of device over traditional gravity dependent devices is that the more energy that is transferred from the lever arm to the flywheel during the concentric action the faster the flywheel will spin; consequently, when this kinetic energy is transferred to the eccentric phase of the movement greater force will need to be generated to exceed that generated during the concentric action (Norrbrand *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, the flywheel device specifically overloads the muscle in the eccentric part of the movement when compared to the concentric part of the movement. Excellent results in terms of increases in eccentric strength (Tesch *et al.*, 2004; Greenwood *et al.*, 2007), early adaptations in skeletal muscle size (Norrbrand *et al.*, 2008), improved maximal running speed, and reduced incidences of hamstrings strain injuries (Askling *et al.*, 2003) have been reported following the use of this type of flywheel apparatus.

An isokinetic dynamometer is another type of specialist resistance training device in which muscles can be trained eccentrically (Kellis and Baltzopolus, 1995). Like wise excellent results have been reported whilst training upon isokinetic dynamometers, with eccentric training resulting in superior increases in eccentric strength compared to concentric training (Seger *et al.*, 1998; Farthing and Chilibeck 2003) and eccentric training suggested to be the most effect for muscle hypotrophy (Farthing and Chilibeck 2003). Despite these excellent results reported whilst using flywheel devices and isokinetic dynamometers, these training devices are still not readily available, as they are relatively expensive and may not be affordable for most soccer clubs.

An exercise that has received an increasing amount of interest in recent years as a means of training the hamstrings during an eccentric action is the NHE (Brughelli and Cronin,

2007). The main attraction of this exercise over isokinetic and flywheel based machines is that it is a simple partner assisted exercise that requires no additional equipment and can be performed with a squad of players in the "field" (Bahr *et al.*, 2002). The exercise involves the trainee starting in a knelt position with a partner stabilising their legs by securing the ankles. Keeping the hips extended, the aim of the exercise is to lean forward in a smooth motion resisting this forward falling motion with the hamstrings muscles. To achieve maximum loading during this eccentric part of the movement, the hamstrings should be engaged as long as possible until the trainee lands on their hands. The trainee then touches down with their hands and lowers their upper body down until the chest touches the ground. From this position the trainee forcefully pushes off using their hands until they are back in a kneeling position with minimal concentric load on the hamstrings (Bahr and Mæhlum 2004).

To date, the activation of the hamstrings through EMG has been shown to be higher in the NHE when compared to other commonly proscribed field based hamstrings exercises, including the dead lift and back squat exercises (Ebben *et al.*, 2006). Also, the strength increases when incorporating the NHE into a resistance training programme suggests that training with this exercise (eccentrically) compared to training with the hamstrings curl exercise (concentrically) for 10 weeks led to an 11% increase in eccentric strength of the hamstrings (Mjølsnes *et al.*, 2004). These findings suggest that the NHE is the most appropriate field based exercise to date, to prescribe for an individual who is training or rehabilitating their hamstrings to prevent a hamstrings strain injury because the NHE is an eccentric based exercise, the optimal hamstring exercise for motor unit recruitment when compared to other hamstrings exercises (Ebben *et al.*, 2006), and training with the NHE led to improved eccentric strength of the hamstrings (Mjølsnes *et al.*, 2004). Although, to date no research group has investigated the EMG activity of the hamstrings in relation to knee angle during the NHE, and hamstrings strain injuries have been shown to occur at the

more extended knee positions (Stanton and Purdam, 1989). An additional advantage of the NHE is that the NHE can be incorporated into warm-up routine time, and since training time is often limited and coaches may be reluctant to redirect time away from technical and tactical training for specific resistance training (Iga *et al.*, In press).

The angle of peak hamstrings torque indicates the working range of motion relative to its length-tension relation of the hamstrings muscles (Proske and Morgan, 2001). Shifting the length tension relationship of the hamstrings to longer lengths has been proposed to improve the hamstrings muscles working range of motion relative to its length-tension relation, conferring protection against initial micro-damage, preventing fibres from reaching a length where they are susceptible to initial damage and a subsequent tear Modifications in the length-tension relations of the (Proske and Morgan, 2001). hamstrings muscles to longer lengths have been indicated after a period of training with the NHE (Brockett et al., 2001; Clark et al. 2005). Brockett et al. (2001) reported a shift in angle of peak torque production of the hamstrings muscles of 7.7° post exercise. Also a similar shift in the angle of peak torque production of 6.3° in the hamstrings was reported in Brockett et al. (2001) study. As a reduced working range of motion of the hamstrings has been proposed as a contributing factor in the aetiology of hamstrings strain injuries (Brockett et al., 2001), based on the findings of Brockett et al. (2001) and Clark et al. (2005), the NHE would be an appropriate exercise to proscribe an individual with a reduced working range of motion of the hamstrings to increase this range of motion to longer muscle lengths so as to provide protection against initial micro-damage, preventing fibres from reaching a length where they are susceptible to a subsequent tear (Proske and Morgan, 2001).

Brughelli and Cronin, (2007) have criticised the NHE based on the findings of Clark *et al.* (2005) who reported a 30.3% pre and 42.4% post intervention difference in the angle of

peak hamstrings torque production between limbs following a 4 week training programme incorporating the NHE. Brughelli and Cronin, (2007) suggested that due to the bilateral nature of the NHE, the stronger limb may compensate for the weaker limb; overtime this may induce or exacerbate existing bilateral strength asymmetries. This implies that resistance training incorporating the NHE may increase bilateral strength asymmetries thereby increasing the susceptibility of the weaker limb to injury (Knapik et al., 1991). The only study to date that has reported eccentric strength of the hamstrings following resistance training with the NHE (Mjølsnes et al., 2004) only performed eccentric strength assessments on the right limb and therefore comparisons between limbs and possible imbalances could not be investigated. However, the research to date is conclusive that the inclusion of the NHE in a resistance training programme reduces hamstrings injuries (Mjølsnes et al., 2004; Brooks et al. 2006). Also, Clark et al. (2005) study can be criticised as this investigation employed concentric actions using an isokinetic dynamometer to assess strength changes. These assessments may not have been appropriate to assess changes in eccentric strength following the training programme as the literature indicates that adaptations following eccentric interventions are mode specific (Kellis and Baltzopoulos 1995). However, Clark et al. (2005) went on to suggests that, where imbalances between limb in the angle of peak torque productions are present, there may be the need for unilateral eccentric hamstring training to reduce this difference before bilateral eccentric specific training commences. Interestingly, Clark et al. (2005) also reported in the same investigation that following 4 weeks training there was a significant increase in vertical jump height (51 - 54.4 cm). This implies that training with the NHE is sports specific as the vertical jump height test is a recognised performance indicator to measure lower body power (Rodacki et al., 2001).

The current research regarding the sports specificity of eccentric training suggests that this type of training is not velocity specific (Kellis and Baltzopoulos 1995). These findings

have important implications for proscribing eccentric modes of training for injury prevention for athletes, since most hamstring strain injuries occur to speed athletes (Garrett, 1996) during high speed high intensity situations during the running action (Verrall et al., 2005) when the hamstrings are contracting eccentrically (Stanton and Purdam, 1989). Angular velocities during sporting movements like running can reach in excess of 300% (Knapik et al., 1991). The early literature by Ryan et al. (1991) reported that eccentric isokinetic training of the hamstrings for 6 weeks at 120% lead to a significant improvement in the hamstrings strength of 18.5% and 22.8% at both velocities 60°/s and 120°/s, respectively. Therefore, this author concluded that within the hamstrings muscle group eccentric training was not velocity specific. More interestingly, since this early research which exclusively relied on the effect of eccentric training at one particular angular velocity on the eccentric torque at altering angular velocities, investigations examining the effect of eccentric training at various angular velocities have been conducted (Paddon-Jones et al., 2001; Farthing and Chilibeck, 2003; Shepstone et al., 2005). This research is far more conclusive and suggests that eccentric strength training is not velocity specific and strength training at higher angular velocities leads to a significant improvement in eccentric strength when compared to training at slower angular velocities (Paddon-Jones et al., 2001; Farthing and Chilibeck, 2003; Shepstone et al., 2005). Both Farthing and Chilibeck, (2003) and Shepstone et al. (2005) reported that eccentric strength training was not velocity specific when training was performed at either slow or fast angular velocities but the improvement in eccentric strength gains were greater at the faster angular velocities. This suggests that adaptations following eccentric strength training are not velocity specific (Ryan et al., 1991; Paddon-Jones et al., 2001; Farthing and Chilibeck, 2003; Shepstone et al., 2005) and specific eccentric training of the hamstrings is not velocity specific (Ryan et al., 1991). This implies that eccentric resistance training at slower angular velocities (i.e., the NHE) may increase eccentric strength of the hamstrings

at faster angular velocities, which is the velocities in running where most hamstrings injuries appear to occur (Verrall *et al.*, 2005).

2.14 Summary of Resistance Training

The NHE has been shown to be the best hamstrings exercise for motor unit recruitment when compared to other hamstrings exercises (Ebben et al., 2006). The neuromuscular adaptations to this eccentric based exercise are improved eccentric strength of the hamstring muscles (Mjølsnes et al., 2004), improved vertical jump height of participants (Clark et al. 2005), shift of the optimal angle for eccentric torque to more extended joint positions (Brockett et al., 2001; Clark et al., 2005) which have resulted in a significant reduction in the incidence and severity of hamstrings strain injuries in games players when incorporated into a resistance training programme (Mjølsnes et al., 2004; Brooks et al., 2006). To date, no research group has systematically evaluated the recruitment characteristics of the hamstrings muscle group during the NHE and what effect a four week resistance training programme incorporating this exercise will have on the isokinetic strength characteristics of the hamstrings muscles. Brughelli and Cronin, (2007) have criticised the NHE because the exercise is a bilateral exercise; this author proposed that training with this exercise would exacerbate existing imbalance, although this suggestion has not been investigated through the assessment of eccentric isokinetic strength. Brughelli and Cronin, (2007) also questioned the ability of this exercise to engage and thus train the hamstring muscles at more extended knee angles. However, this postulate also has yet to be examined.

Therefore the aim of this thesis is to investigate, through electromyography analysis, the recruitment characteristics of the hamstrings during the NHE. A second aim is to evaluate, through isokinetic strength assessments, eccentric strength changes and shifts in the length tension relationship in the hamstrings, and if there are asymmetries between limbs

following training with the NHE. It also appears that eccentric strength training is not velocity specific (Ryan *et al.*, 1991; Paddon-Jones *et al.*, 2001; Farthing and Chilibeck, 2003; Shepstone *et al.*, 2005), and no research group has investigated if eccentric training incorporating the NHE is velocity specific. Consequently, a third aim is to investigate if eccentric strength training incorporating the NHE is velocity specific.

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Participants

Eighteen male professional football players with no history of musculoligamentous injury about the knee and no experience of systematic eccentric-based resistance training of the hamstrings muscles were recruited for this study. The number of participants was calculated based on statistical power calculations (Vincent, 1995) of the hamstrings eccentric peak torque production and the angle of peak torque production at each test velocity (60, 120, 240°/s) in the DOM limb, a range of participants per group were indicated (see appendix A) to distinguish the minimum clinically important difference from the statistical null. All players had between 2-8 years experience of professional soccer training. The players engaged in 4 training sessions per week for a total of 12 to 16 hrs and played one or two competitive matches a week; the players' training was designed to improve technical and tactical skills and develop aspects of game related fitness. Participants were randomly assigned either as the training group (10 players) or a nontraining group (8 players). The players in the training group performed 4 weeks of training incorporating the NHE (see section 3.2); the non-training group continued with their normal training methods. Mean age, stature, body mass, and details of body composition for each group are displayed in Table 3.1. The University's Research Ethics committee approved all procedures, and after being fully informed of their involvement (see appendix B) signed consent (see appendix C) and health questionnaires (see appendix D) were obtained from each participant prior to commencement of the study. All participants were informed that they had the right to withdraw from the study at any time without prejudice to access of services, which were already being provided or may subsequently be provided to the participant.

40

 Table 3.1: Participants anthropometric characteristics.

	Control	Training
	Group	Group
Age (year)	22.3 ± 3.9	23.4 ± 3.3
Stature (m)	1.85 ± 9.7	1.77 ± 6.8
Body mass (kg)	78.0 ± 11.1	78.0 ± 8.2
Sum of 4 skinfolds (mm) *	27.8 ± 4.8	26.5 ± 7.0

* Sum of four skinfold measurements at the triceps, biceps, suprailliac and subscapular

3.2 Training intervention

The training group followed a previously applied resistance training programme incorporating the NHE (Mjølsnes *et al.*, 2004). The volume of training is illustrated in Table 3.2. The training group performed the NHE as part of their daily warm-up routine. In the NHE, the trainees started in a knelt position with a partner securing the legs by holding the ankles. The movement was to lean forward at the knees whilst maintaining the hip joint in an extended position. Participants were advised to resist the falling motion for as long as possible by engaging the hamstrings muscles. If this was not possible they had to try and maintain the tension in their hamstrings even after they had fallen. Participants were asked to use their hands to both brake their fall and return their torso to the starting position, therefore minimising the concentric contraction of the hamstrings during the movement. The control group continued their normal warm-up routine.

Week	Session per week	Sets and Reps
1	1	2/5
2	2	2/6
3	3	3/6
4	3	3/8

3.3 The Nordic Hamstring Exercise

Start position (start of phase 1)



Start of phase 2 (roughly)



End position (end of phase 3)



3.4 Isokinetic eccentric assessments

Isokinetic eccentric assessments of the hamstrings were performed on a Biodex isokinetic dynamometer (System-3, Biodex Corp., Shirley, NY, USA). Participants were familiarised with the dynamometer and the testing protocols one week prior to formal assessment. Peak torque was assessed in both limbs at 60, 120 and 240°/s. Limb dominance was determined through interview and was defined as the preferred leg when kicking a football. Formal assessments were commenced with a standardised warm up consisting of 3 minutes of cycling at 50 W on a cycle ergometer (Excalibur Sport, Lode, The Netherlands). Isokinetic assessments were performed from a prone position with the hips extended during unidirectional movements in which following the eccentric action, the participants' limb was passively returned to the starting position by the dynamometers' lever-arm. A strap designed to stabilise the trunk was applied across the waist, and participants were instructed to place their arms to the side of the reclined chair and hold the straps provided. This provided constant conditions across all participants and aimed to mitigate additional movements which may have confounded the test results. The axis of rotation of the

dynamometer was visually aligned with the lateral femoral condule of the knee with the knee flexed at approximately 90°. The resistance pad was placed proximal to the medial malleolus, allowing full dorsi-flexion and plantar-flexion of the ankle joint. Motion ranged from 90° to 10° of knee extension (0° representing full extension). Slow angular velocity assessments were performed before assessment at the higher angular velocities as this may facilitate learning during assessments at high angular velocity of the knee and reduce the risk of injury (Gaul, 1996). At each angular velocity two sub-maximal warm-ups were followed by four maximal test efforts. Limbs were tested in a randomised order across participants but standardised across trials. Five seconds of rest were allowed between each maximal effort. Standardised verbal encouragement was given before each maximal effort, and visual feedback of the recorded torque was provided. Participants were given a rest of 60 s between movements at different angular velocities. The gravitational moment of the leg-foot segment was determined from anthropometric data expressing the weight of the segment relative to the total body weight of the participant and the position of the centre of mass (Kellis and Baltzopoulos, 1996). From this data and the length of the segment (lateral femoral epicondyle-malleolus) moments at 0° of knee extension were calculated (Kellis and Baltzopoulos, 1996). The gravitational moment at any angle during the range of motion was obtained as the product of the above moment and the cosine function of the angle (Kellis and Baltzopoulos, 1996). To avoid the effects of acceleration and deceleration of the lever arm on torque output, only peak torque data obtained from the period of constant velocity, within a 5% range of the preset angular velocity, were analysed (Iga et al., In press).

3.5 Electromyography

The recruitment characteristics of the hamstrings muscles when performing the NHE were examined by the use of surface EMG. For maximum signal detection each bipolar surface electrode (DE– 2.3 MA; DelSys Inc., Boston, MA, USA) was positioned on the belly of

the muscle perpendicular to the muscle fibres. Electrodes were placed on the medial hamstrings (MED) and lateral hamstrings (LAT) represented by the semitendinosus and semimembranosus muscles and the biceps femoris long head and biceps femoris short head respectively, in both the dominant (DOM) and non-dominant (NDOM) limbs. Following the application of surface electrodes participants were instructed to perform five 'Nordic' Hamstring Curls. Five repetitions were selected to obtain EMG data representative of the muscle activity during the exercise without extensive fatigue to the muscles involved. Electromyography was quantified with an 8-channel DelSys EMG telemetry system (DelSys Myomonitor III, DelSys Inc., Boston, MA, USA). Raw EMG data was collected at a sampling frequency of 1024Hz and sent directly to the DelSys Acquisition software package set up on a Toshiba Laptop (L20, Toshiba Corp. Tokyo, Japan). The unit included a common mode rejection ratio of >80 dB and an amplifier gain of 1000. Raw EMG data was band pass filtered at 20 - 450 Hz using the DelSys Acquisition software.

An electrogoniometer (S700; DelSys Inc., Boston, MA, USA) was applied to each participant's right knee, with the axis of rotation centred over the lateral femoral condyle, with the knee flexed at approximately 90°. The proximal arm of the electrogoniometer was placed on the lateral thigh and aligned with the lateral midline of the femur using the greater trochanter as a reference point. The distal arm was placed on the lateral aspect of the shank and aligned with the lateral midline of the fibula with the lateral malleolus as a reference point. The electrogoniometer allowed the exploration of the interaction between the EMG activity of the muscles of the hamstrings during phase 1 (1st 1/3 of the movement), phase 2 (2nd 1/3 of the movement), and phase 3 (3rd 1/3 of the movement) during the range of motion of the NHE. The electrogoniometer signal was included within the same 8-channel DelSys EMG telemetry system as the EMG signal and therefore the sampling frequency was set at 1024Hz. The velocity of the NHE was standardised by the use of a metronome. The metronome was set to one beat per second and the participants

were instructed to perform the eccentric part of the NHE in three seconds. Participants were familiarised with this velocity by watching other subjects perform the NHE.

The start of the NHE was standardised through the construction of 95% confidence limits around the first 250 electrogoniometer data points. This represented a 0.25s epoch which was considered sufficient to represent a stationary start position for the participant. When two consecutive electrogoniometer data points dropped below the 95% confidence limit the movement was considered to have started. The finish of the 'Nordic' Hamstring Curl was calculated to be when the electrogoniometer data points reached its lowest point in the movement for two consecutive data points.

Raw EMG data was converted to RMS data within the DelSys Data Analysis software package. The EMG RMS data for each section of the movement was normalised against the maximum EMG RMS amplitude recorded in the same muscle over a 2 ms window during the 5 repetitions of the NHE. The mean RMS value from the five repetitions of the NHE during each section of the movement was used to represent the EMG activity of that muscle group during that section of the movement.

The reliability characteristics associated with the peak torque data and the angle of peak torque data were investigated prior to the commencement of the main study through the use of 95% limits of agreement (LOA). Data was collected through a test retest scenario using the same isokinetic procedures highlighted in methods 3.4. Eighteen males (mean, SD; age, 23.0 ± 5.9 yrs; height, 181.5 ± 10.3 cm; body mass, 78.2 ± 9.0 kg) with no history of musculoligamentous injury about the knee and no experience of systematic eccentric-based resistance training of the hamstrings muscles were recruited for this study. The University's Research Ethics committee approved all procedures, and after being fully informed of their involvement signed consent and health questionnaires were obtained

from each participant prior to commencement of the study. All participants were informed that they had the right to withdraw from the study at any time without prejudice to access of services, which were already being provided or may subsequently be provided to the participant. Bland-Altman plots for the data are presented in appendix E. The results are displayed in tables 3.3 and 3.4. The 95% LOA associated with each test velocity (60°/s, 120°/s, 240°/s) in both the DOM and NDOM limbs for both peak torque production and angle of peak torque production can be considered relatively wide as the magnitude of change would have to be high to report a difference.

 Table 3.3. 95% Limits of Agreement for hamstrings peak torque

Velocity; Limb	Bias ± 95% LOA
60°/s; DOM limb	-3 Nm ± 23 Nm
60°/s; NDOM limb	-3 Nm ± 26 Nm
120°/s; DOM limb	0 Nm ± 18 Nm
120°/s; NDOM limb	-1 Nm ± 27 Nm
240°/s; DOM limb	1 Nm ± 35 Nm
240°/s; NDOM limb	$1 \text{ Nm} \pm 24 \text{ Nm}$

Table 3.4. 95% Limits of Agreement for hamstrings angle of peak torque

Velocity; Limb	Bias \pm 95% LOA
60°/s; DOM limb	$11^\circ \pm 38^\circ$
60°/s; NDOM limb	$0^{\circ} \pm 43^{\circ}$
120°/s; DOM limb	$-2^{\circ} \pm 41^{\circ}$
120°/s; NDOM limb	$3^{\circ} \pm 36^{\circ}$
240°/s; DOM limb	$1^{\circ} \pm 10^{\circ}$
240°/s; NDOM limb	$0^{\circ} \pm 7^{\circ}$

3.5 Data analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 14 software package (Chicago, Ill). The level of significance was set at $P \le 0.05$ for all tests. To examine the difference in muscle EMG activity during the NHE between the DOM and NDOM limbs (LAT and MED pooled), a paired sample *t*-test was applied. Where differences were not present, further analysis of the DOM limb through a two-way (2x3) fully repeated measures ANOVA was applied to examine the interaction effect of muscle region (LAT/MED) and knee position (phase 1, phase 2, phase 3) on EMG muscle activity during the NHE. Significant interaction effects and main effects were further examined using Bonferroni-corrected post hoc *t*-tests.

To examine the effect of the NHE training programme on the DOM and NDOM isokinetic peak torque production and angle of peak torque production at each test velocity, two-way (2×2) between (group) within (time) factorial analysis of variance design was applied. When a main effect for time was reported, the interaction between time and limb for isokinetic peak torque for each velocity was analysed using two-way (2×2) fully repeated measures analysis of variance. Significant main effects were further examined using Bonferroni-corrected post hoc *t*-tests.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

4.1 Electromyographic analysis of the NHE

No difference in the EMG normalised RMS amplitude of the hamstrings between the limbs $(t_{37} = 0.137; P = 0.413)$ was observed. Two-way fully repeated measures ANOVA demonstrated the absence of an interaction between muscle region and joint angle for the normalised RMS amplitude of the hamstrings in the DOM limb ($F_{2,35} = 1.775, P = 0.184$). Although no main effect for muscle region was observed ($F_{1,36} = 1.605, P = 0.213$), main effects for angle on RMS amplitude were demonstrated ($F_{2,35} = 154.354, P < 0.001$). Bonferroni corrected post-hoc t-tests indicated that in both muscle regions in the DOM limb the RMS amplitude was significantly higher at the more extended knee positions (see figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1. Electromyographic activity of the hamstrings muscle during the 'Nordic' hamstring exercise prior to training.

4.2 Isokinetic peak torque in the training study

Significant interaction effects for time by group were observed for eccentric strength assessments of the DOM and NDOM limbs across all assessment velocities (60°/s; DOM, $F_{1,16} = 5.11$, P = 0.04; NDOM, $F_{1,16} = 6.84$, P = 0.02; 120°/s; DOM, $F_{1,16} = 4.46$, P = 0.05; 240°/s; DOM, $F_{1,16} = 8.10$, P = 0.01; NDOM, $F_{1,16} = 5.68$, P = 0.03). Main effects for time for the DOM limb were observed for the slowest velocity (DOM 60°/s, $F_{1,16} = 5.58$, P = 0.03) but not for the fastest velocities (DOM 120°/s, $F_{1,16} = 2.73$, P = 0.12; DOM 240°/s, $F_{1,16} = 1.24$, P = 0.28). Main effects for time were observed for the NDOM limb across all velocities (NDOM 60°/s, $F_{1,16} = 12.24$, P < 0.001; NDOM 120°/s, $F_{1,16} = 6.75$, P = 0.02; NDOM 240°/s, $F_{1,16} = 12.24$, P < 0.001). Eccentric peak torque production in the training group improved 8 to 21%, whereas no significant change over time was observed for the non training group (~4%) (see table 4.1)

Table 4.1. Isokinetic peak torque strength (Nm) of the hamstrings muscles in the training and control group pre and post the training intervention (Mean \pm SD).

	Training				Controls			
Velocity (°/s)	Pre		Post		Pre		Post	
	DOM	NON NOM	DOM	NON DOM	DOM	NON DOM	DOM	NON DOM
60	115 ± 42	99±30	132±43* **	119±37* **	120±38	107±37	121±33	109±29
120	121±45	105±32	134±42*	119±33 **	122±40	105±37	121±35	110±28
240	121±43	102±34	130±42*	122±32* **	114±46	103±34	110±41	107±27

Note; * Indicates the significant interaction effects for time by group. ** Indicates the significant main effects for time.

Further analysis of the training group indicated no interaction effects for time by limb across velocities (60°/s, $F_{1, 18} = 0.20$, P = 0.66; 120°/s, $F_{1, 18} = 0.026$ P = 0.88; 240°/s, $F_{1, 18} = 2.48$, P = 0.13). Main effects for time across all velocities were observed ($F_{1, 18} = 23.65$, P < 0.001) although no main effects for limb across all velocities were observed (F

 $_{1,18} = 0.75$, P = 0.40). The improvements in leg strength when the DOM and NDOM were pooled together were not velocity specific (see figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2. Isokinetic hamstrings strength of the 'Nordic' hamstring exercise training group in the DOM and NDOM limbs (data pooled) pre and post the training intervention across test velocities.

4.3 Isokinetic angle of peak torque production in the training study

Non-significant interaction effects for time by group were observed for angle of peak torque production in all test conditions ($F_{1, 16} = 0.99$, P = 0.44). No main effects for time ($F_{1, 16} = 1.85$, P = 0.33) or group ($F_{1, 16} = 0.59$, P = 0.61) were identified (see table 4.2).

Table 4.2. Isokinetic angle of peak torque production (°) of the hamstrings muscles in the training and thecontrol group pre and post the training intervention (Mean \pm SD)

	Training				Controls			
Velocity (º/s)	Pre		Post		Pre		Post	
	DOM	NON DOM	DOM	NON DOM	DOM	NON DOM	DOM	NON DOM
60	34±19	34±16	31±18	26±12	30±19	27±16	25±11	25±14
120	31±21	30±17	22±14	23±14	27±17	26±13	23±16	27±15
240	28±4	29±5	25±3	28±5	28±5	29±9	29±4	29±4

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION

5.1 Main findings

This investigation is the first of its kind to compare the hamstrings involvement during the NHE. The primary finding from the EMG data in this study is that the NHE involves the hamstrings to a greater degree at the more extended knee angles during the movement (phase 2 and phase 3) when compared to the initial stage of the movement (phase 1). There seems to be no difference between the amount of involvement of the DOM and NDOM limbs during the exercise and there appears to be no difference between the contribution of the LAT and MED hamstrings during the movement.

When the normalised RMS EMG data during the NHE between limbs is compared (i.e., the LAT and MED normalised RMS data are pooled), the data indicates that the DOM and NDOM limbs contribute to the exercise similarly, with 7.8% (DOM) and 8.3% (NDOM) of the peak RMS EMG value produced by the respective muscle groups during the complete movement. It has been supposed that because the NHE is a bilateral exercise for the hamstrings muscle group (i.e., the DOM and NDOM limb are activated during the movement) that the DOM limbs involvement during the movement may be greater to compensate for the potentially weaker NDOM limb (Brughelli and Cronin, 2007); according to this theory, over time, it may be supposed that training with this exercise may lead to or exacerbate any existing bilateral strength asymmetries. An imbalance in strength between the DOM and NDOM limbs has been associated with an increase in reported injuries to the weaker limb (Knapik *et al.*, 1991). Despite this supposition by Brughelli and Cronin (2007) there is amounting evidence that training with the NHE reduces the amount of hamstrings injuries (Mjølsnes *et al.*, 2004; Brooks *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore,

the EMG data from the present investigation suggests there is no difference in the amount of involvement of the DOM or NDOM limbs during the NHE, implying that Brughelli and Cronin, (2007) supposition is incorrect, and the NHE will not increase existing bilateral strength asymmetries. The implications of the findings from this investigation are supported by Mjølsnes *et al.* (2004) and Brooks *et al.* (2006) who reported reduced incidence of hamstrings injuries after a resistance training programme of the NHE. It is recognised that when comparing the EMG data across limbs in the present study, the EMG data was normalised against the maximum EMG RMS amplitude recorded in the same muscle during the 5 repetitions of the NHE. Therefore, the comparison in the present study between EMG data across limbs is relative and not absolute.

Further analysis of the EMG data in the DOM limb demonstrated that the LAT and MED hamstring muscles during the three phases of the NHE produced a similar amount of EMG activity. When the RMS EMG data produced by the LAT and MED hamstrings were analysed during the complete movement, the LAT and MED involvement were 7.3% (LAT) and 8.2% (MED) respectively of the peak RMS EMG value produced by that muscle group during the movement. However, it has been demonstrated that the ratio of LAT and MED hamstring muscle activation can be altered with changes in the foot rotation position (Lynn and Costigan, 2008). Lynn and Costigan (2008) revealed that through internal foot rotation the MED to LAT hamstring ratio could be increased and external foot rotation decreases this ratio. Based on the normalised RMS EMG data from this present study, the LAT and MED muscles involvement during the NHE were similar. Despite this apparent similarity, the present investigation did not attempt to standardise the internal external rotation of the participants' feet and therefore alterations in the LAT and MED hamstrings involvement due to foot rotation during the NHE could not be systematically investigated. This limitation is recognised, and a study aimed to standardise foot position could investigate if an alteration in foot position leads to a greater activation

of either MED or LAT hamstring during the NHE, as an increase in activation of either the MED or LAT hamstring could create muscle imbalances, which could increase susceptibility to injury.

In the DOM limb, both the LAT and MED hamstrings muscles' normalised RMS EMG data showed a higher involvement in the movement at the more extended knee positions. The normalised RMS EMG in phase 2 and 3 of the movement was 11.2% (phase 2) and 8.3% (phase 3) of the peak RMS EMG data produced by that muscle respectively during the movement, compared to 3.7% in phase 1 of the movement. A proposed limitation for the NHE is that as subjects lower their body, gravity becomes a factor and they are unable to support their own body weight at around 30° of knee extension (Brughelli and Cronin, 2007). Studies have shown that around 30° and beyond of knee extension is the angle at which the hamstrings produce peak torque when assessed using isokinetic dynamometry (Brockett et al., 2001; Clark et al., 2005). Although participants appeared not to be able to lower their body weight in a controlled manor to 30° of knee extension, based on the results of the present study, the involvement of both the LAT and MED hamstrings muscles are still significantly higher in this section of the movement when compared to the initial part of the movement. One explanation for this increase in EMG activity in the hamstring muscles at the more extended joint positions could be that the hamstrings are cocontracted during knee extension movements so as to stabilise the knee joint (Hirokawa et al., 1991). As the participants are no longer able to fully engage their hamstrings at the more extended knee positions during the movement this serves to increase the movement velocity at this stage of the movement. This suggests that the increases in EMG at the more extended knee positions could be in response to the need to increase the stability of the knee so as to compensate for this increase in movement velocity (Hirokawa et al., 1991). A second explanation for this increase in EMG activity in the hamstrings muscles at the more extended joint positions could be simply that gravitational effects are greater at

the more extended knee positions during the movement and subsequently even after a loss of control in the movement the hamstrings muscles activation is increased to compensate for the increase effects of gravity at these more extended knee positions. As the participants in the current study were not able to fully engage the hamstrings through the full range of motion in the NHE, until an investigation is designed to compare the muscle recruitment patterns of the hamstrings during the NHE between participants that can engage their hamstrings through the full range of motion and participants that can't, these are just speculations based on current research in the area.

The dead lift is a hamstring exercise that is often proscribed to individuals with weak hamstrings (Wright et al., 1999). Escamilla et al. (2002) demonstrated that the activation of the hamstrings during the dead lift movement was at its greatest at the more extended joint positions (0 - 30° knee angle). This suggests that the activation of the hamstring during the dead lift exercise is greatest at the knee angles where most hamstrings strain injuries occur. The EMG data from the current study also demonstrates that the activation of the hamstrings during the NHE is at its greatest during the more extended knee joint positions. In addition, the activation of the hamstrings has been shown to be higher in the NHE when compared to the dead lift exercise (Ebben et al., 2006); also the dead lift exercise is a movement which combines both concentric and eccentric actions of the hamstrings (Escamilla et al., 2002). It has been reported that the majority of hamstrings strain injuries occur during an eccentric action (Garrett 1990) and to induce optimal developments in the eccentric strength of muscle, resistance training methods that emphasise an eccentric action should be utilised (Baechle, 2000). This suggests that the NHE is a more appropriate exercise than the dead lift to prescribe for an individual who is training or rehabilitating their hamstrings to prevent a hamstring strain injury, not only because the NHE engages the hamstrings muscles at the knee angle where hamstrings injuries appear to occur but the NHE is an eccentric based exercise that has been shown

through the use of EMG to engage the hamstrings to a greater degree than the dead lift exercise (Ebben *et al.*, 2006).

The effect of a four week training programme incorporating the NHE on the isokinetic eccentric strength of the hamstrings muscle group was also investigated. The primary findings from the isokinetic strength assessments were that a four week training programme incorporating the NHE does lead to an increase in the eccentric strength of the hamstrings across angular velocities in both the DOM and NDOM limbs. The isokinetic eccentric strength assessments also indicated the improvements in peak torque following the training programme were symmetrical across both the DOM and NDOM limbs, and appear not to be specific to the velocity of training. However, surprisingly, the angle of eccentric peak torque production was unchanged following the training intervention; this observation is in contrast to the current published literature that suggests after eccentric training the angle of peak torque production is reduced to longer muscle lengths (Brockett et al., 2001; Clark et al., 2005). This contrast could possibly be explained by the differences in test conditions used in the present study (prone isokinetic testing) compared to the seated position used in the studies which have reported a shift in the angle of peak torque production to longer muscle lengths. The non-significant statistical results may be explained by the high variability associated with these measurements (Table 3.4). Also, based on the statistical power calculations for sample size, depending on the velocity at which the test is performed at, between 471 and 17 participants would be required to distinguish the minimum clinically important difference from the statistical null.

The results from the present study indicate that the training group increased their eccentric isokinetic peak torque production by between 8 - 21% across limbs at the different angular velocities (table 4.1). These results are similar to other studies that have incorporated

eccentric strength training of the hamstrings into a training programme of professional soccer players. Askling et al. (2003) trained the hamstrings of professional soccer players for ten weeks on a YoYo flywheel ergometer (Non gravity dependent device) and reported a 19% increase in isokinetic eccentric peak torque production in the hamstrings. Likewise, Miølsnes et al. (2004) trained the hamstrings of professional soccer players for ten weeks with the NHE; this author reported an 11% increase in isokinetic eccentric peak torque production in the DOM hamstring following the training programme. However the results from the current study do contradict the results reported by Clark et al. (2005) who reported a minor change in the peak torque production in the hamstrings of only 2% from 99 to 101Nm following training. Clark et al. (2005) incorporated exactly the same four week NHE training programme as used in the current study. However, Clark et al. (2005) did employ concentric isokinetic strength assessments following the four week training programme and the present study employed eccentric isokinetic strength assessments. The literature indicates that eccentric training is generally mode specific, and that eccentric isokinetic assessments of strength are more appropriate than concentric isokinetic assessments to assess changes in eccentric strength following eccentric training (Kellis and Baltzopoulos 1995; Higbie et al., 1996; Seger et al., 1998). Therefore, the concentric isokinetic strength assessment used in Clark et al. (2005) investigation following the four week eccentric training programme may not have been appropriate to assess the likely changes in the eccentric strength of the hamstrings. The isokinetic strength assessments performed in the current study, and those of Askling et al. (2003) and Mjølsnes et al. (2004) (i.e. eccentric action) were more appropriate to assess strength changes following an eccentric training programme, as they were mode specific. Hence, the strength gains reported in Askling et al. (2003) and Mjølsnes et al. (2004) and this present study are more representative of the eccentric strength changes that occurred in the hamstrings muscle group following an eccentric training programme.

The duration of the eccentric training programme utilized in the current study was four weeks. Both Askling et al. (2003) and Mjølsnes et al. (2004) studies investigated the effect of a ten week eccentric training programme on the strength of the hamstrings. Despite the short period of training used in the present study the increase in eccentric peak torque production of 15% (when DOM and NDOM and test velocities are pooled) was similar to that observed in Askling et al. (2003) (19%) and Mjølsnes et al. (2004) (11%) studies. This rapid improvement in the eccentric strength of the hamstrings could possibly be explained by the findings of Iga et al. (In press) who reported that soccer training and games play may asymmetrically develop the strength of the knee joint muscles in favour of quadriceps dominance. This increase in quadriceps strength would create an imbalance between the quadriceps and hamstring, affectively leading to a deconditioning affect upon the hamstrings muscles when compared to the quadriceps muscles. Therefore, stimulating the hamstrings through strength training will lead to a rapid change in hamstring strength so as to correct for imbalance in strength between the hamstrings and quadriceps. In addition, the increase in eccentric strength observed in Askling et al. (2003) and Mjølsnes et al. (2004) studies may have occurred in the early part of the training programme (first four weeks), and the subsequent 6 weeks of training served to increase slightly, or even only maintain the eccentric strength of the hamstring, rather than enhance it. It is well documented in the literature that the increases in strength that are observed in the early part of a training programme can be attributed to neural adaptations (Sale, 1998; Gabriel et al., 2006). As the training period in the current study was limited to only 4 weeks, and eccentric strength was not assessed during stages of the training programme, it is recognised that this suggestion is only speculative without a further study designed to assess isokinetic eccentric strength during stages of a longer training programme incorporating the NHE.

The increase in isokinetic eccentric peak torque illustrated by the current study within the NHE training group were symmetrical in both the DOM and NDOM limbs across all test angular velocities, illustrated by no differences in interaction effects for time by limb and no main effects for limb across all velocities. Following the training programme the increase in isokinetic eccentric peak torque in the DOM and NDOM limbs was 15% and 20% respectively at 60%, 11% and 13% respectively at 120% and, 8% and 19% respectively at 240% (table 4.1). As previously discussed it has been suggested that because the NHE is a bilateral movement for the hamstrings muscle group that possibly the DOM limb's involvement during the movement will be greater to compensate for the weaker NDOM limb (Brughelli and Cronin, 2007). This postulate suggests that training with the NHE will lead to a greater increase in the isokinetic eccentric peak torque in the DOM limb compared to the NDOM limb which may cause or lead to increases in existing bilateral strength asymmetries. Bilateral strength asymmetries have been associated with hamstring strain injuries (Knapik et al., 1991). However, the results from this study suggest that this postulate is false and that findings, based on isokinetic eccentric assessment the hamstrings of the DOM and NDOM limb's, show a similar increase in both limb's for isokinetic eccentric torque production following training with the NHE. This suggests that the NHE is an appropriate exercise to prescribe for an individual for training the hamstrings eccentrically.

In agreement with the current literature (Kellis and Baltzopoulos 1995; Higbie *et al.*, 1996; Seger *et al.*, 1998) the isokinetic strength assessments from the current study indicated that the gains in eccentric strength following the four week training programme with the NHE were not velocity specific (figure 4.2). As the participants were asked to perform the NHE at an angular velocity of 30° /s (90° in 3 secs) based on the literature (Kellis and Baltzopoulos 1995; Higbie *et al.*, 1996; Seger *et al.*, 1998) the increase in eccentric strength in both the DOM and NDOM limbs across the three angular velocities tested

(60°/s, 120°/s, 240°/s) would indicate that the increases in strength were not velocity specific. It is recognised that within the current study the percentage increase in eccentric strength in the DOM limb at the higher angular velocities (11% and 8%) was less than that in the NDOM limb (13% and 19%). Despite this, there were still increases in eccentric strength reported at these angular velocities (120°/s, 240°/s) in both the DOM and NDOM limbs despite the angular velocity (30°/s) in the training programme being significantly This implies that training using the NHE at slower angular velocities could slower. provide protection against injuries that occur during running and sprinting activities where angular velocity can be in excess of 300% (Knapik et al., 1991). Interestingly, recent research suggests that despite eccentric training not being velocity specific, improvements in eccentric strength are greater when training is performed at faster angular velocities (Farthing and Chilibeck, 2003; Shepstone et al. 2005). The angular velocity that the NHE was performed at in this study would be considered slow if performed upon an isokinetic dynamometer. If through training with the NHE participants can perform the NHE to full range (to the floor) and improvements in eccentric strength gains are greater at training modalities at higher angular velocities (Farthing and Chilibeck, 2003; Shepstone et al., 2005), increasing the angular velocity of the movement through a partner could serve to increase eccentric strength of the hamstrings even further. Alternatively, perhaps performing the NHE at faster angular velocities may reduce the exposure of the muscle to eccentric overload, therefore reducing the strength improvements reported in the current study. These discussions are beyond the scope of the present study and therefore a study designed with the aim to investigate the eccentric strength changes following fast and slow performance of the NHE is recommended.

The results of the present study conflict with the recent research (Brockett *et al.*, 2001; Clark *et al.*, 2005) into alterations in the length tension relationship of the hamstrings muscle group following a training programme of eccentric exercise. The present study

indicated that there were no interaction effects for time by group for angle of peak torque production in all test conditions. Also, no main effects for time and group were reported. These results suggest there were no alterations in the length tension relationship for the hamstrings in the training group following the training intervention in both the DOM and NDOM limbs across all test velocities (see table 4.2). However, Brockett et al. (2001) reported a shift in peak torque production for the hamstrings to longer muscle lengths following a single bout of eccentric exercise with the NHE. After this single bout the angle of peak torque production shifted 7.7°; this shift was still present 10 days after the exercise bout. Clark et al. (2005) implemented exactly the same NHE training programme used in the current study to a similar sample group (Australian Rules football players) and reported that there was a 6.3° shift in the angle of peak torque production for the hamstrings to longer muscle lengths following the four week training programme. It is postulated that in the hamstrings the initial damage which may manifest into a more serious injury later in a session occurs beyond the optimal length, on the descending limb of the muscle's length-tension relation (Brockett et al., 2004). Consequently, shifting the angle of peak torque production to longer muscle lengths will reduce the amount of hamstrings action that is on the descending limb of the length tension relationship thereby reducing this muscles' susceptibility to a strain injury. A possible explanation for this difference between the findings from the isokinetic strength assessments in the present study and both Brockett et al. (2001) and Clark et al. (2005) studies could be the differences in the isokinetic strength assessments employed between studies.

Firstly, it is important to note, within the present study isokinetic strength assessments were performed during an eccentric action, but in the studies of both Brockett *et al.* (2001) and Clark *et al.* (2005) strength assessments were performed during a concentric action of the hamstrings. The literature implies that isokinetic eccentric actions are generally mode specific (Kellis and Baltzopoulos 1995), and that eccentric isokinetic assessments are more

appropriate than concentric isokinetic assessments to assess changes in muscle adaptations following eccentric training (Higbie et al., 1996; Seger et al., 1998). Therefore, it can be argued that the strength assessments employed in the present study which did not report shifts in the angle of peak torque production may have been more appropriate than the strength assessments employed in Brockett et al. (2001) and Clark et al. (2005) studies which did report shifts in the angle of peak torque production. However, it is recognised there may be limitations to the strength assessments used in the present study which may also explain the discrepancies between results. In both Brockett et al. (2001) and Clark et al. (2005) studies the isokinetic strength assessments were performed in a seated position, in the present study isokinetic strength assessments were performed in a prone position. Based on the results of this present study, there appears to be a high random error associated with eccentric isokinetic strength assessments performed in the prone position (table 3.3, 3.4). Therefore, the prone position employed in the present study may not have been appropriate to assess changes in the angle of peak torque production following the training intervention and the seated positioned employed by Brockett et al. (2001) and Clark et al. (2005) may have been more appropriate. Also, the power sample calculations from the present study imply that the number of participants employed in the present study were not sufficiently high to report the minimum difference from statistical null (Appendix A), and therefore with a larger sample size a significant difference may have been reported. In addition, both Brockett et al. (2001) and Clark et al. (2005) reported isokinetic strength at an angular velocity of 60%. The current study reported isokinetic strength assessments from three different angular velocities, the fastest being 240°/s. To avoid the effects of acceleration and deceleration of the lever arm on torque output, only peak torque data obtained from the period of constant velocity, within a 5% range of the preset angular velocity, were analysed. At the faster angular velocities (240%) the lever arm will spend more of the range of motion accelerating; therefore the participants may have not been able to engage their hamstrings fully until the more extended knee joint positions. If the angle

of peak torque production in the current study had been assessed at only the lowest angular velocity (60°/s) the results may have been similar to the findings of Brockett *et al.* (2001) and Clark *et al.* (2005) (refer to table 4.2, angular velocities 60° /s). These differences in test protocols between the present study and the studies which have detected a shift in the angle of peak torque production for the hamstrings following eccentric training (Brockett *et al.*, 2001; Clark *et al.*, 2005) are recognised. Consequently, a test protocol utilising slower angular velocities (i.e., 60° /s) with the participants seated on the isokinetic dynamometer may have been a more appropriate test protocol than the range of angular velocities during a prone position used in the present study to detect shifts in the angle of peak torque for the hamstrings following the training intervention. Although based on the finding from this study I would recommend that isokinetic strength assessment should be performed in an eccentric mode when detecting shifts in the angle of peak torque for the hamstrings following a training intervention.

5.2 Practical Application

Hamstrings strains are a common injury in sports that combine fast explosive sprinting and kicking activities (Garrett, 1996; Stanton and Purdam, 1989). Within soccer the hamstrings strain injury has consistently been documented as the most prevalent injury at both junior and senior level (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Hawkins *et al.*, 2001; Woods *et al.*, 2002; Price *et al.*, 2004). A weakness in the hamstrings muscles (Stanton and Purdam, 1989) and an imbalance in the hamstrings to quadriceps ratio (Croisier *et al.*, 2002; Croisier *et al.*, 2008) have consistently been documented as a plausible causative factor for a hamstring strain injuries. Furthermore recent evidence suggests that protocols designed to mimic soccer match play lead to a reduction in the hamstrings to quadriceps ratio later in the game (Rahnama *et al.*, 2003; Greig, 2008) and that the hamstrings muscle is not sufficiently stimulated by conventional soccer training and match play (Iga *et al.*, In Press). Consequently, it seems crucial to implement training programmes designed to correct

abnormalities in strength imbalances through increasing hamstrings strength in soccer players (Croisier *et al.*, 2002; Croisier *et al.*, 2008). It is also well documented that the majority of hamstring strain injuries occur during the late swing phase of the running action, when the hamstrings are activated eccentrically to assist hip extension while preventing knee hyperextension (Garrett 1996). Therefore, training to incorporate eccentric muscle strength appears appropriate. In accordance with the principle of training specificity, it seems crucial to develop eccentric modes of training of the hamstrings to prevent soccer players being susceptible to hamstrings strain injuries, and the findings from this study suggest that the NHE meets this challenge.

The NHE has received some recent criticism regarding its practical application into a strength training programme for the hamstrings (Brughelli and Cronin, 2007). However, the results from the present study suggest that these criticism were not warranted and that both the stronger and weaker limbs contribute to the NHE equally, shown by no significant difference in the EMG activity of DOM and NDOM hamstring muscle groups during the movement. Also, a training programme incorporating the NHE not only increases the eccentric strength of the hamstrings, but the strength gains are not significantly different between limbs. In addition, the EMG data also illustrates that the hamstrings muscles are activated at the more extended knee joint positions. The NHE may be of more practical use than traditional hamstrings exercises for preventing and rehabilitating hamstring strain injuries as this is the knee angle at which most injuries occur. Further to this, training with the NHE appears not to result in velocity specific adaptations, which implies that training at a slow angular velocity (i.e., the NHE) could provide protection against injuries that occur during sporting activities like running where angular velocity can reach in excess of 300°/s (Knapik *et al.*, 1991).

5.3 Recommendation for further research

Based on the findings from the present study, an area of future research would be to design an investigation to compare the EMG activity in the hamstrings during the NHE between participants that can engage their hamstrings through the full range of motion and participants that can't. This study will serve to investigate if the increase in EMG activity of the hamstrings at the more extended knee joint positions is due to an increase in angular velocity due to a loss of control in the movement or if it is the increased effects of gravity in the more extended joint positions in the movement that leads to an increase in EMG activity in the hamstrings. This study could also investigate through isokinetic strength assessments if increasing the angular velocity at which the NHE is performed, leads to an increase or decrease in eccentric hamstring strength compared to training with the NHE at slower angular velocities.

A second area of suggested research regarding the NHE would be to design an investigation to compare if the internal external rotation of the participant's feet leads to alterations in the involvement of the LAT and MED hamstrings. The results from this study would demonstrate if the foot position of the participant needs to be standardised to eliminate a greater contribution of either the LAT or MED hamstrings during the NHE. The findings from this investigation would be especially important when incorporating the NHE as part of a resistance training programme, as long term training without a standardised foot position may serve to increase potential hamstrings strength asymmetries.

A further area of future research would be to design an investigation that reports both EMG activity and isokinetic eccentric strength within the hamstrings muscle group during stages of a training programme incorporating the NHE. This investigation would serve to investigate alterations in neuromuscular activity and how the hamstring muscle groups
adapt during the course of the training programme. The results from Brockett *et al.* (2001) study reported muscle adaptation after a single bout of eccentric exercise incorporating the NHE represented by a shift in peak torque production to longer muscle lengths. Likewise, the present study demonstrated similar eccentric strength increases compared with previous studies (Askling *et al.*, 2003; Mjølsnes *et al.*, 2004) with a significantly shorter training period (four weeks). This investigation would serve to answer the question of the time duration needed to illicit significant increases in eccentric hamstrings strength during a training programme incorporating the NHE.

A study designed to investigate the reliability of hamstring strength assessments performed upon the isokinetic dynamometer in both seated and prone positions investigating the results from a range of different angular velocities, would serve to answer the question which is the most appropriate protocol to employ when assessing changes in the eccentric strength of the hamstrings. Also, this study could investigate which mode of isokinetic assessment (concentric or eccentric) is most appropriate to assess alterations in the length tension relationship of the hamstrings following a training intervention incorporating eccentric hamstrings training.

5.4 Conclusion

The findings from the present study suggest that the NHE is an appropriate eccentric based exercise to introduce into a strength training programme designed to reduce hamstring strain injuries in professional soccer players. This study demonstrated through electromyography that during the NHE the MED and LAT hamstrings of the DOM and NDOM limbs are engaged similarly, with the hamstrings being engaged to a greater extent at the more extended knee positions. This suggests that the NHE not only engages the hamstrings to a greater degree at the knee angle where most hamstring injuries appear to occur but the NHE will not exacerbate existing bilateral strength asymmetries between muscles and limbs. The isokinetic eccentric strength assessments from the present study confirm this supposition, as training with the NHE served to increases the eccentric strength of the hamstrings symmetrical across limbs. In addition, the present study demonstrated that training with the NHE at slower angular velocities does not result in velocity specific adaptations, as increases in eccentric hamstring strength were recorded at much faster angular velocities in both limbs. This suggests that a training programme incorporating the NHE is appropriate to prescribe an individual to provide protection against injuries that may occur during running activities where angular velocities can exceed 300°/s. Additionally, the NHE is an exercise that can be performed as part of a warm- up, and therefore time dedicated to technical and tactical aspects of the game will not be jeopardised. This study was the first of its kind to identify significant increases in eccentric hamstring strength after only four weeks of training incorporating the NHE. This would suggest that the NHE could be included as part of a pre season training modality to provide protection against hamstring strains in the competitive season.

REFERENCES

Aagard, P., Simonsem, E. B., Trolle, M. (1995). Isokinetic hamstring/quadriceps strength ratio: Influence from joint angular velocity, gravity correction and contraction mode. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, **154**, 421-427.

Aagard, P., Simonsen, E. B., Magnusson, S., Larsson, B. and Dyhre-Poulsen, P. (1998). A new concept for Isokinetic Hamstring: Quadriceps Muscle strength ratio. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **26**, 231-237.

Arnason, A., Anderson, T. E., Holme, I., Engebretsen, L., Bahr, R. (2008). Prevention of hamstring strains in elite soccer: an intervention study. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sport*, **18**, 40-48.

Askling, C., Karlsson, J., Thorstensson, A. (2003). Hamstring injury occurrence in elite soccer players after preseason strength training with eccentric overload. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sport*, **13**, 244-250.

Backx, F. J., Beijer, H. J., Bol, E., Erich, W. B. (1991). Injuries in high-risk persons and high-risk sports. A longitudinal study of 1818 school children. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **19** (2), 124-130.

Baechle, T. R., Earle R. W. (2000). *Essentials of Strength Training and Conditioning*.Champaign IL: Human Kinetics.

Bahr, R., Mæhlum, S. (2002). Idrettsskader. Oslo: Gazette Bok, 53.

Baltzopoulos, V., Brodie, D A. (1989). Isokinetic dynamometry. Application and limitations. *Sports Medicine*, **8**, 101-116.

Basmajian, J. V., Clifford, H. C., McLeod, W. D.. Nunnally, H.N. (1975). *Computers in Electromyography*. Baltimore, Md.: Butterworth.

Basmajian, J. V., De Luca, C. J. (1985). *Muscles Alive*, 5th Edition. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins.

Berg, H. E., Tesch, P. A. (1992). Designing methods for musculoskeletal conditioning in weightlessness. *Physiologist*, **35**, 596-598.

Berg, H. E., Tesch, P. A. (1994). A gravity-independent ergometer to be used for resistance training in space. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, **65**, 752-756.

Bennell, K., Wajswelner, H., Lew, P., Schall-Riaucour, A., Leslie, S., Plant, D., Cirone, J. (1998). Isokinetic strength testing does not predict hamstring injury in australian rules footballers. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **32**, 309-314.

Bolgla, L. A., Uhl, T. L. (2007). Reliability of electromyographic normalisation methods for evaluating the hip musculature. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, **17**, 102-111.

Brooks, H. M., Fuller, C. W., Kemp, S. P. T., Reddin, D. B. (2006). Incidence, Risk, and Prevention of Hamstring Muscle injuries in Professional Rugby Union. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **34**, 1297-1306. Brockett, C. L., Morgan, L. M., Proske, U. (2001). Human hamstring muscles adapt to eccentric exercise by changing optimum length. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, **33** (5), 783-790.

Brockett, C. L., Morgan, L. M., Proske, U. (2004) Predicting hamstring strain in elite athletes. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, **36** (3), 379-387.

Brughelli, M., Cronin, J. (2007). Altering the length-tension relationship with eccentric exercise: Implications for performance injury. *Sports Medicine*, **37** (9), 807-826.

Burden, A., Bartlett, R. (1999). Normalisation of EMG Amplitude: An evaluation and comparison of old and new methods. *Medical Engineering and Physics*, **21**, 247-257.

Byrne, C., Twist, C., Eston, R. (2004). Neuromuscular function after exercise-induced muscle damage. Theoretical and applied implications. *Sports Medicine*, **34**(1), 49-69.

Clark, R., Bryant, A., Culgan, J., Hartley, B. (2005). The effects of eccentric hamstring strength training on dynamic jumping performance and isokinetic strength parameters: a pilot study on the implications for the prevention of hamstring injuries. *Physical Therapy in Sport*, **6**, 67-73.

Clarys, J. P. (1985). Hydrodynamics and electromyography: ergonomics aspects in aquatics. *Applied Ergonomics*, **16**, 11-24.

Clarys, J. P., Cabri, J. (1993). Electromyography and the study of sports movements: A review. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **11**, 379-448.

Clarys, J. P. (2000). Electromyography in sports and occupational settings: an update of its limits and possibilities. *Ergonomics*, **43**, 1750-1762.

Coburn, P. (2002). Posterior thigh pain. In P. Brukner, and K. Khan (Eds.), *Clinical Sports Medicine* 2nd ed, pp. 411-421. McGraw-Hill.

Croisier, J., Forthomme, B., Namurois, M., Vanderthommen, M., Crielaard, J. (2002). Hamstring muscle strain recurrence and strength performance disorders. *American Journal* of Sports Medicine, **30** (2), 199-203.

Croisier, J. (2004). Factors associated with recurrent hamstring injuries. *Sports Medicine*, **34**, 681-695.

Croisier, J., Ganteaume, S., Binet, J., Genty, M., Ferrett, J. (2008). Strength imbalances and prevention of hamstring injury in professional soccer players. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **28**, 69-74.

De Loes, M., Goldie, I. (1988). Incidence rate of injuries during sports activities and physical exercise in rural Swedish municipality: incidence rates in 17 sports. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*. **9**, 461-467.

De Loes, M. (1995). Epidemiology of sports injuries in the Swiss organisation 'youth and sport' 1987-1989. Injuries exposure and risks of main diagnosis's. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*. **16**, 134-138.

De Luca, C. J., Knaflitz, M. (1990). *Surface Electromyography; what 's New?* Neuromuscular Research Centre, Boston, MA. De Luca, C.J. (1997). The use of Surface Electromyography in Biomechanics. *Journal of Applied Biomechanics*, **13** (12), 135-163.

De Luca, C.J. (2006). Electromyography. *Encyclopaedia of Medical Devices and Instrumentation*, 98-109.

Devlin, L. (2000). Recurrent posterior thigh symptoms detrimental to performance in rugby Union: predisposing factors, *Sports Medicine* **29** (4), 273-287.

Drust, B., Reilly, T., Cable, N. T. (2000). Physiological responses to laboratory-based soccer-specific intermittent and continuous exercise. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **18**, 885-892.

Dudley, G. A., Tesch, P. A., Harris, R. T., Golden, C. L., Buchanan, P. (1991). Influence of eccentric actions on the metabolic cost of resistance exercise. *Aviation Space and Environmental Medicine*, **62**, 678-682.

Dvir, Z., Eger, G., Halperin N., Shklar, A. (1989). Thigh muscles activity and ACL insufficiency. *Clinical Biomechanics*, **4**, 87-91.

Ebben, W. P., Leigh, D. H., Long, N., Clewien, R. Davies, J. A. (2006). Electromyographic analysis of hamstring resistance training exercises. *Proceedings of the XXIV International Symposium of the Society of Biomechanics in Sports*, S1-S4.

Ekstrand, J., Waldén, M. and Hägglund, M. (2004). Risk for injury when playing in a national football team. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sport*, **14**, 34–38.

Elias, S. R. (2001). 10-year trend in USA cup soccer injuries: 1988-1997. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*. **33** (3), 359-367.

Ekstrand, J., Gillquist, J. (1983). Soccer injuries and their mechanism: a prospective study. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, **15** (3), 267-270.

Engstrom, B., Forssblad, M., Johansson, C., Tornkvist, H. (1990). Does a major knee injury definitely sideline an elite soccer player. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **18** (1), 101-105.

Enoka, R. M. (1996). Eccentric contractions require unique activation strategies by the nervous system. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, **81** (6), 2339-2346.

Ericsson, K., Anders, L., Charnes, N. (1994). Expert Performance: its Structure and Acquisition. *American Psychology*, **49**, 725-747.

Escamilla, R. F., Francisco, A. C., Kayes, A. V., Speer, K. P., Moorman, C. T. (2002). An electromyographic analysis of sumo and conventional style deadlifts. *Medicine and Science in Sport and Exercise*, **34** (4), 682-688.

Farthing, J. P., Chilibeck, P. D. (2003). The effects of eccentric and concentric training at different velocities on muscle hypotrophy. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, **89**, 578-586.

Forestier, N., Nougier, V. (1998). The effect of muscular fatigue on the coordination of a multijoint movement in human. *Neuroscience Letters*, **252**, 187-190.

Elias, S. R. (2001). 10-year trend in USA cup soccer injuries: 1988-1997. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise. **33** (3), 359-367.

Ekstrand, J., Gillquist, J. (1983). Soccer injuries and their mechanism: a prospective study. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, **15** (3), 267-270.

Engstrom, B., Forssblad, M., Johansson, C., Tornkvist, H. (1990). Does a major knee injury definitely sideline an elite soccer player. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **18** (1), 101-105.

Enoka, R. M. (1996). Eccentric contractions require unique activation strategies by the nervous system. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, **81** (6), 2339-2346.

Ericsson, K., Anders, L., Charnes, N. (1994). Expert Performance: its Structure and Acquisition. *American Psychology*, **49**, 725-747.

Escamilla, R. F., Francisco, A. C., Kayes, A. V., Speer, K. P., Moorman, C. T. (2002). An electromyographic analysis of sumo and conventional style deadlifts. *Medicine and Science in Sport and Exercise*, **34** (4), 682-688.

Farthing, J. P., Chilibeck, P. D. (2003). The effects of eccentric and concentric training at different velocities on muscle hypotrophy. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, **89**, 578-586.

Forestier, N., Nougier, V. (1998). The effect of muscular fatigue on the coordination of a multijoint movement in human. *Neuroscience Letters*, **252**, 187-190.

Fuller, C. W., Ekstrand, J., Junge, A., Anderson, T. E., Bahr, R., Dvorak, J., Hagglund, M., McCrory, P., Meeuwisse, W. H. (2006). Consensus statement on injury definitions and data collection procedures in studies of football (soccer) injuries. *Scandinavian Journal of medicine and science in sport*, **16** (2) 83-92.

Garrett, W. E. (1990). Muscle strain injuries: clinical and basic aspects. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, **22** (4), 436-443.

Garrett, W. E. (1996). Muscle strain injuries. *American Journal of sports medicine*, **24**, S2-S8.

Gaul, C. (1996). Muscular strength and endurance. In: *Measurement in Pediatric Exercise Science*, D. Docherty (Ed.). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, pp. 225-258.

Gleeson, N. P. (2001). Assessment of neuromuscular performance using
electromyography. In: *Kinanthropometry and Exercise Physiology Laboratory Manual: Tests, Procedures and Data. 2nd* Volume 2: *Exercise Physiology* (edited by R.G. Eston and T. Reilly). Routledge: London.

Greenwood, J., Morrissey, M. C., Rutherford, O. M., Narici, M. V. (2007). Comparison of conventional resistance training and the fly-wheel ergometer for training the quadriceps muscle group in patients with unilateral knee injury. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, **101**, 697-703.

Greig, M. (2008). The influence of soccer-specific fatigue on peak isokinetic torque production of the knee flexors and extensors. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **36**, 1403-1409.

Hagglund, M., Walden, M., Bahr, R., Ekstrand, J. (2005a). Methods for epidemiological study of injuries to professional football players: developing the UEFA model, *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **39**, 340-346.

Hagglund, M., Walden, M., Ekstrand, J. (2005b). Injury incidence and distribution in elite football: a prospective study of the Danish and the Swedish top divisions. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sport*, **15**, 21-28.

Hagglund, M., Walden, M., Ekstrand, J. (2006). Previous injury as a risk factor for injury in elite football: a prospective study over two consecutive seasons. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **40**, 767-772.

Hawkins, R. D., Fuller, C. W. (1999). A prospective epidemiological study of injuries in four English professional football clubs. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **33**, 196-203.

Hawkins, R. D., Hulse, M. A., Wilkinson, C., Hodson, A., Gibson, M. (2001). The association football medical research program: an audit of injuries in professional football. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **35**, 43-47.

Herbert, R. D., Gabriel, M. (2002). Effects of stretching before and after exercising on muscle soreness and risk of injury: systematic review. *British Medical Journal*, **31**, 325 - 468.

Higbie, E. J., Cureton, K. J., Warren III, G. L., Prior, B. M. (1996). Effects of concentric and eccentric training on muscle strength, cross-sectional area, and neural activation. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, **81**, 2173-2181.

75

Hirokawa, S., Solomonow, M., Luo, Z., Lu, Y., D'Ambrosia, R. (1991). Muscular cocontraction and control of knee stability. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 1 (3), 199-208.

Horstmann, T., Mayer, F., Maschmann, J., Niess, A., Roecker, K., Dickhuth, H. H. (2001). Metabolic reaction after concentric and eccentric endurance-exercise of the knee and ankle. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, **33**(5), 791-795.

Hortobagyi, T. (2003). The Positives of Negatives: Clinical Implications of Eccentric Resistance Exercise in Old Adults. *Journal of Gerontology: Medical Sciences*, **58** (5), 417-418.

Huffens, A. F., Forestier, N. (2006). Effects of fatigue of elbow extensor muscles voluntarily induced and induced by electromyostimulation on multi-joint movement organisation. *Neuroscience Letters*, **403**, 109-113.

Hughes, G., Watkins, J. (2006). A risk factor model for anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Sports Medicine*, **36** (5), 411-428.

Iga, J., George, K., Lees, A., Reilly, T. (In Press). Cross-sectional investigation of indices of isokinetic leg strength in youth soccer players and untrained individuals. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sport,*

Inklaar, H., Bol, E., Schmikli, S. L., Mosterd, W. L. (1996). Injuries in male soccer players: Team risk analysis. *Orthopedics and Clinical Science*, **17** (3), 229-234.

Isear, J. A., Erickson, J. C., Worrell, T. W. (1997). EMG analysis of lower extremity muscle recruitment patterns during an unloaded squat. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, **29**, (4), 532-539.

Jones, D. (2007). *Annual Review of Football Finance*. Available from: http://www.deloitte.com/dtt/cda/doc/content/UK_ARFF_2007_Foreword.pdf [Accessed 6th December 2007].

Jonhagen, S., Ericson, M. O., Nemeth, G., Eriksson, E. (1996). Amplitude and timing of electromyographic activity during sprinting. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, **6**, 15-21.

Junge, A., Dvorak, J., Graf-Baumann, T., Peterson, L. (2004). Football injuries during FIFA tournaments and Olympic games. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **32**, S80-S89.

Keller, C. S., Noyes, F. R., Buncher, C. R. (1987). The medical aspects of soccer injury epidemiology. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **15** (3), 230-237.

Kellis, E., Baltzopoulos, V. (1995). Isokinetic eccentric exercise. *Sports Medicine*, **19** (3), 202-222.

Kellis, E., Baltzopoulos, V. (1996). Gravitational moment correction in isokinetic
dynamometry using anthropometric data. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 28
(7), 900-907.

Kibler, W. B. (1993). Injuries in adolescent and preadolescent soccer players. *Medicine* and Science in Sports and Exercise, **25** (12), 1330-1332.

Knapik, J. J., Bauman, C. L., Jones, B. H., Harris, J. M., Vaughan, L. (1991). Preseason strength and flexibility imbalances associated with athletic injuries in female collegiate athletes. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **19**, 76-81.

Kucera, K. L., Marshall, S. W., Kirkendall, D. T., Marchak, P. M., Garrett, W. E. (2005). Injury history as a risk factor for incident injury in youth soccer. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **39**, 462-466.

LaStayo, P. C., Woolf, J. M., Lewek, M. D., Reich, T. E., Lindstedt, S. L. (2003). Eccentric muscle contractions: Their contribution to injury, prevention, rehabilitation, and sport. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, **33**, 557-571.

Le Gall, F., Carling. C., Reilly, T., Vandewalle, H., Church, J., Rochcongar, P. (2006). Incidences of injuries in elite French youth soccer players: a 10-season study. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **34**, (6) 928-938.

Leininger, R. E., Christy, L. K., Comstock, R.D. (2007). Epidemiology of 1.6 Million Pediatric Soccer-Related Injuries Presenting to US Emergency Departments From 1990 to 2003. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **35**, 288-293.

Lynn, S. K., Costigan, P. A. (2008). Changes in the medial–lateral hamstring activation ratio with foot rotation during lower limb exercise. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, (In Press).

Mair, S. D., Seaber, A. V., Glisson, R. R. (1996). The role of fatigue in susceptibility to acute muscle strain injury. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **24**, 137-143.

McHugh, M. P., Connolly, D. A. J., Esten, R.G. (1999). The role of passive muscle stiffness in symptoms of exercise-induced muscle damage. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **27** (3), 594-599.

Mjølsnes, R., Arnason, A., Osthagen, T., Raastad, T., Bahr, R. (2004). A 10-week randomized trial comparing eccentric vs. concentric hamstring strength training in welltrained soccer players. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sport*, **14**, 311-317.

Morgan, D. L. (1990). New insight into the behaviour of muscle during active lengthening. *Biophysical Journal*, **57**, 209-221.

Morgan, B. E., Oberlander, M. A. (2001). An examination of injuries in major league soccer. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **29** (4), 426-430.

Nicholas, C. W., Nuttall, F. E., Williams, C. (2000). The Loughborough Intermittent Shuttle Test: A field test that simulates the activity pattern of soccer. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **18**, 97-104.

Nielsen, A. B., Yde, J. (1989). Epidemiology and traumatology of injuries in soccer. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **17** (6), 803-807.

Noonan, T. J., Garrett, W. E. (1992). Injuries at the myotendinous junction. *Clinics in Sports Medicine*, **11** (4), 783-806.

Noonan, T. J., Garrett, W. E. (1999). Muscle stain injury: Diagnosis and treatment. Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, 7, 262-269.

Norrbrand, L., Fluckey, J. D., Pozzo, M., Tesch, P. A. (2008). Resistance training using eccentric overload induces early adaptations in skeletal muscle size. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, **102**, 271-281.

Olsen, O., Myklebust, G. Engebrestsen, L. Holme, I., Bahr, R. (2005). Exercise to prevent lower limb injuries in youth sports: cluster randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal*, **330**, 449-452.

Onishi, H., Yagi, R., Oyama, M., Akasaka, K., Ihashi, K., Handa, Y. (2002). EMG-angle relationship of the hamstrings muscles during maximum knee flexion. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, **12**, 399-406.

Orchard, J., Marsden, J., Lord, S., Garlick. D. (1997). Preseason hamstring muscle weakness associated with hamstring muscle injury in australian footballers. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **25**, 81-85.

Paddon-Jones, D., Leveritt, M., Lonergan, A., Abernethy, P. (2001). European Journal of Applied Physiology, **85**, 466-471.

Parry, L., Drust, B. (2006). Is Injury the Major cause of elite soccer players being unavailable to train and play during the competitive season. *Physical Therapy in Sport*, 7, 58-64.

Patel, D. R., Stier, B., Luckstead, E. F. (2002). Major international sport profiles. *Paediatric Clinics of North America*, **49** (4), 769-792.

Price, R. J., Hawkins, R. D., Hulse, M. A., Hodson. (2004). The Football Association medical research programme: an audit of injuries in academy youth football. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **38**, 466-471.

Pritchett, J. W. (1981). Cost of high school soccer injuries. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **9**, 64-66.

Proske, U., Morgan, D. L. (2001). Muscle damage from eccentric exercise: mechanism,
mechanical signs, adaptation and clinical applications. *Journal of Physiology*, **537** (2), 333-345.

Pull, M. R., Ranson, C. (2007). Eccentric muscle actions: Implications for injury prevention and rehabilitation. *Physical Therapy in Sport*, **8**, 88-97.

Putnam, C. A. (1991). A segment interaction analysis of proximal-to-distal sequential segment motion patterns. *Medicine and Science in Sport and Exercise*, **23**, 130-144.

Quatman, C. E., Ford, K. R., Myer, G. D., Paterno, M, V., Hewett, T. E. (2008). The effects of gender and pubertal status on generalised joint laxity in young athletes. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sports*, **11**(3), 257-267.

Rahnama, N., Reilly, T., Lees, A., Graham-smith, P. (2003). Muscle fatigue induced by exercise simulating the work rate of competitive soccer. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **21**, 933-942.

Reilly, T. (1996). Energetics of high-intensity exercise (soccer) with particular reference to fatigue. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **15**, 257-263.

Rodacki, A. L. F., Fowler, N. E., Bennett, S. J. (2001). Multi-segment coordination: fatigue effects. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, **33**(7), 1157-1167.

Rolls, A., George, K. (2004). The relationship between hamstring muscle injuries and hamstring muscle length in young elite footballers. *Physical Therapy in Sport*, **5**, 179-187.

Roos, H., Ornell, M., Gardsell, P., Lohmander, L. S., Lindstrand, A. (1995). Soccer after anterior cruciate ligament injury-an incompatible combination? A national survey of incidence and risk factors and a 7-year follow-up of 310 players. *Acta Orthopedics Scandinavia*, **66**(2), 107-112.

Rutherford, O. M., Jones, D. A. (1986). The role of learning and co-ordination in strength training. *European Journal pf Applied Physiology*, **55**, 100-105.

Ryan, L. M., Pamela, S., Magidow, S., Duncan, P. W. (1991). Velocity-specific and modespecific effects of eccentric isokinetic training of the hamstrings. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 33-39.

Ryschon, T. W., Fowler, M. D., Wysong, R., Anthony, A. R., Balaban, R. S. (1997). Efficiency of human skeletal muscle in vivo: Comparisons of isometric, concentric, and eccentric muscle action. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, **83**(3), 867-874. Safran, M. R., Garrett, W. E., Seaber, A. V., Glisson, R. R., Ribbeck, B. M. (1988). The role of warmup in muscular injury prevention. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*. **16**, 123-129.

Sale, D. G. (1988). Neural adaptation to resistance training. *Medicine and Science in* Sports and Exercise. **20** (5), S135-S145

Seger, J. Y., Arvidsson, B., Thorstensson, A. (1998). Specific effects of eccentric and concentric training on muscle strength and morphology in humans. *European journal of applied physiology and occupational physiology*, **79**, 49-57.

Shea, K. G., Pfeiffer, R., Wang, J. H., Curtin, M., Apel, P. J. (2004). Anterior cruciate ligament injury in pediatric and adolescent soccer players: an analysis of insurance data. *Journal of Orthopaedics*, **24**(6), 623-628.

Shepstone, T. N., Tang, J. E., Dallaire, S., Schuenke, M. D., Staron, R. R, Phillips, S. M. (2005). Short-term high vs. low-velocity isokinetic lengthening training results in greater hypotrophy of the elbow flexors in young men. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, **98**, 1768-1776.

Shier, I. (1999). Stretching before exercise does not reduce the risk of local muscle injury: a critical review of the clinical and basic science literature. *Clinical Journal of Sports Medicine*, **9** (4), 221-227.

Soderberg, G. L., Knutson, L. M. (2000). A Guide for Use and Interpretation of Kinesiologic Electromyographic Data. *Physical Therapy*, **80**, 485-498.

83

Stanton, P., Purdam, C. (1989). Hamstring injuries in sprinting – The role of eccentric exercise. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy.* **10**, 343-349.

Stauber, W.T. (1989). Eccentric action of muscles: physiology, injury, and adaptation. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, **17**, 157-85.

Tan, B. (1999). Manipulating resistance training program variables to optimize maximum strength in men: A review. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, **13**, 289-304.

Tesch, P. A., Dudley, G. A., Duvoisin, M. R., Hather, B. M., Harris, R. T. (1990). Force and EMG signal patterns during repeated bouts of concentric and eccentric muscle actions. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, **138**, 263-271.

Tesch, P. A., Ekberg, A., Lindquist, D. M., Trieschmann, J. T. (2004). Muscle hypotrophy following 5-weeks resistance training using a non-gravity dependent exercise system. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, **180**, 89-98.

Verrall, G. M., Slavotinek. J. P., Barnes, P. G. (2005). The effect of sports specific training on reducing the incidence of hamstring injuries in professional australian rules football players. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **39**, 363-368.

Vincent, J. M., The *t* test: Comparing means from two sets of data. In: *Statistics in Kinesiology*, Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, 1995, pp 115-145.

Waldén, M., Hägglund, M., Ekstrand, J. (2005). UEFA Champions League study: a prospective study of injuries in professional football during the 2001–2002 season. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **39**, 542-546.

Witvrouw, E., Danneels, L., Asselman. (2003). Muscle flexibility as a risk factor for developing muscle injuries in male professional soccer players: a prospective study. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, **31**, 41-46.

Witvrouw, E., Mahieu, N., Danneels, L., McNair, P. (2004). Stretching and injury prevention: an obscure relationship. *Sports Medicine*, **34** (7), 443-449.

Wong, P., Hong, Y. (2005). Soccer injury in the lower extremities. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **39**, 473-482.

Woods, C., Hawkins, R., Hulse, M., (2002). The football association medical research programme: an audit of injuries in professional football: analysis of preseason injuries. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **36**, 436-441.

Woods, C., Hawkins, R. D., Maltby, S., Hulse, M., Thomas, A., Hodson, A. (2004). The Football Association Medical Research Programme: an audit of injuries in professional football-analysis of hamstring injuries. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, **38**, 36-41.

Worrell, T. W. (1994). Factors associated with hamstring injuries: an approach to treatment and preventative measures. *Sports Medicine*, **17**, 338-345.

Wright, G. A. (1999). Electromyographic activity of the hamstrings during performance of the leg curl, stiff-leg deadlift, and back squat movements. *National Strength and Conditioning Research*, **13** (2), 168-174.

Yang, J., Winter, D. A. (1984). Electromyographic amplitude normalisation methods: Improving their sensitivity as diagnostic tools in gait analysis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, **65**, 517-521.

Yde, J., Nielsen, A. B. (1990). Sports injuries in adolescents' ball games: soccer, handball and basketball. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*. **24**, 51-54.

Yoon, Y. S., Chai, M., Shin, D. W. (2004). Football injuries at Asian tournaments. American Journal of Sports Medicine. **32**, S36-S42.

APPENDICIES

Appendix A

Statistical power calculations for sample size

Sample size estimation based on the hamstrings eccentric peak torque production to distinguish the minimum clinically important difference from the statistical null with an alpha level of 0.05.

Note sample size estimation formula: $N = 2SD^2 (Z^{\alpha} + Z\beta)^2$

	Velocity (°/s)		
Power	60	120	240
0.8	77	139	276
0.5	34	61	121

 Z^{α} = Alpha level (0.05)

 $Z\beta = Power$

 $\dot{\Delta^2}$ = The difference between the two mean values being compared

SD = The standard deviation of the two groups

N = Approximate sample size estimated

Sample size estimation based on the hamstrings angle of peak torque production to distinguish the minimum clinically important difference from the statistical null with an alpha level of 0.05.

Velocity (°/s)			
Power	60	120	240
0.8	471	49	17
0.5	206	21	8

Note sample size estimation formula: $N = \frac{2SD^2(Z^{\alpha} + Z\beta)^2}{\Lambda^2}$

 Z^{α} = Alpha level (0.05)

 $Z\beta = Power$

 Δ^2 = The difference between the two mean values being compared

SD = The standard deviation of the two groups

N = Approximate sample size estimated

Appendix B

Participant information sheets

Participant Information Sheet

Name of experimenter: Steven Fruer

Supervisors: Dr. John Iga, Dr. David James and Dr. Martine Deighan

Title of study:

Effects of "Nordic" hamstring exercise training on the neuromuscular functioning of the hamstrings muscle group.

Purpose of the study

Team sports such as soccer, rugby and hockey are associated with a high incidence of hamstrings muscle strain injuries (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999; Woods *et al.*, 2004: Price *et al.*, 2004). Most of these injuries are sustained whilst running or sprinting as the hamstrings muscle group work eccentrically (i.e. lengthen whilst generating tension) to prevent knee hyperextension and hip extension (Price *et al.*, 2004). It has been suggested that a relative weakness in the eccentric strength of the hamstring muscles may predispose to injury (Garrett, 1996): it may be that by resistance training to increase the eccentric strength of the hamstrings, the threat and severity of a hamstring muscle strain injury may be limited.

In accordance with the principle of training specificity, to induce optimal developments in the eccentric strength, resistance training methods that emphasis an eccentric overload should be utilised. Specialised resistance training machines designed to train the hamstring muscles during eccentric actions are now commercially available (http://www.yoyotechnology.com/sport.html). Although excellent results in terms of injury prevention and improved sprint performance have been reported following training using this device (Askling *et al.*, 2002), these training machines are relatively expensive and may not be affordable at many clubs.

An exercise that has received increasing amount of interest in recent years as a means of training to increase the eccentric strength of the hamstrings is the "Nordic" hamstrings exercise. The main attraction of this exercise is that it is a simple partner assisted exercise that requires no additional equipment and can be performed with a squad of players in the "field". A significant improvement in the eccentric strength of the hamstring muscles has been reported following training using this exercise (Mjølsnes *et al.*, 2004). Additionally, one group of researchers reported a significant reduction in the incidence and severity of hamstring injuries following the incorporation of this exercise into the existing strength training routines of professional rugby union players (Brooks *et al.*, 2006).

Despite such positive observations, to date, no research group has considered changes in the neuromuscular activity of the hamstrings following training with this "Nordic" hamstrings exercise. Consequently, the aim of this study is to analyse how the hamstring muscles recruitment characteristics during the "Nordic" hamstring exercise change through a training period.

Procedures and participants role

<u> 1 Training programme</u>

Figure I provides a schematic representation on the study design. Twenty male team sports players will be randomly assigned into either a training group or a non-training group. The formal training programme will last for 4 weeks, during which time participants will be allowed to continue with their normal team sports training group will be required to refrain from any other resistance based training. The training group will wordic." Hamstring Exercise. The "Nordic" Hamstring Exercise will be fully explained to all participants before training commences. This programme will be progressively increased throughout the course of the training programme to ensure progressive overload. The principal investigator will be present to supervise at all training sessions. The non-training group will be required to perform one set of the training sessions. The non-training group will be required to perform one set of the training sessions. The non-training group will be required to perform one set of the "Nordic" Hamstring Exercise in weeks one and four of the training programme.



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the study design.

Test Procedures

All participants will be required to visit the physiology laboratory on three separate occasions prior to the training phase and once after the training period. During these visits, after a period of warming-up, special electrodes will be taped to the back of the muscles during the strength assessments. Participants will then be asked to perform a series of strength assessment. The strength assessments will be made during about 20 maximal efforts, performed at a range of test velocities in both your dominant and non-dominant limb. These exercises will be performed on a special testing machine and an are performed at a range of test velocities in both your dominant and non-dominant limb.

:930N 9269IA

All participants have the right to withdraw from the project/study at any time without prejudice to access of services, which are already being provided or may subsequently be provided to the participant.

Appendix C

Informed consent form

UNIVERSITY OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE

SPORT & EXERCISE LABORATORIES

Informed Consent Form

Description of study:

Effects of "Nordic" hamstring exercise training on the neuromuscular function of the hamstrings muscle group.

I agree to participate in the study listed above, the nature of which has been clearly explained to me.

The purpose and details of this study and research procedures have been explained to me.

I understand the scope of my involvement in this study and that I have the right to withdraw from this study at any time for any reason, and that I will not be required to explain my reason for withdrawing.

I understand that all the information I will provide will be treated in strict confidence.

I have had the opportunity to ask questions regarding my participation.

Name:

Signed:

Date:

Name of Guardian*:

Signed*: Date*

Tester:

Signed: Date:

*to be completed only if the participant is under 18 years of age

Appendix D

Pre exercise health questionnaire



SPORT & EXERCISE LABORATORIES

Health Questionnaire

About this questionnaire:

The purpose of this questionnaire is to gather information about your health and lifestyle. We will use this information to decide whether you are eligible to take part in the testing for which you have volunteered. It is important that you answer the questions truthfully. The information you give will be treated in confidence. Your completed form will be stored securely for 5 years and then destroyed.

Section 1, which has been completed by the tester, provides basic information about the testing for which you have volunteered. Sections 2 to 7 are for you to complete: please circle the appropriate response or write your answer in the space provided. Please also complete section 8. Sections 9 and 10 will be completed by the tester, after you have completed sections 2 to 8.

Section 1: The testing (completed by tester)

To complete the testing for which you have volunteered you will be required to undertake:

Moderate exercise (i.e., exercise that makes you breathe more heavily than you do at rest but not so heavily that you are unable to maintain a conversation)

Vigorous exercise (i.e., exercise that makes you breath so heavily that you are unable to maintain a conversation)

The testing involves:



Generating or absorbing high forces through your arms Generating or absorbing high forces through your shoulders Generating or absorbing high forces through your trunk Generating or absorbing high forces through your hips Generating or absorbing high forces through your legs

Section 2: General information

Name: Sex: M F Age:

Height (approx.): Weight (approx.):

Section 3: Initial considerations

1. Do any of the following apply to you?

No Yes

- a) I have HIV, Hepatitis A, Hepatitis B or Hepatitis C
- b) I am pregnant
- c) I have a muscle or joint problem that could be aggravated
- by the testing described in section 1
- d) I am feeling unwell today
- e) I have had a fever in the last 7 days

(If you have answered "Yes" to question 1, go straight to section 8)

	Section 4: Habitual physical activity				
2a.	Do you typically perform moderate exercise (as defined in section 1) for 20 minutes or longer at least twice a week?	No	Yes		
2b.	Have you performed this type of exercise within the last 10 days?	No	Yes		
За.	Do you typically perform vigorous exercise (as defined in section 1) at least once a week?	No	Yes		
3b.	Have you performed this type of exercise within the last 10 days?	No	Yes		
	Section 5: Known medical conditions				
4.	Do any of the following apply to you?	No	Yes		
	 a) I have had insulin-dependent diabetes for more than 15 years b) I have insulin-dependent diabetes and am over 30 years old c) I have non-insulin-dependent diabetes and am over 35 years old 				
5.	Have you ever had a stroke?	No	Yes		
6.	Has your doctor ever said you have heart trouble?	No	Yes		
7.	Do both of the following apply to you?	No	Yes		
	a) I take asthma medicationb) I have experienced shortness of breath or difficulty with breathing in the last 4 weeks?				
8.	Do you have any of the following: cancer, COPD, cystic fibrosis, other lung disease, liver disease, kidney disease, mental illness, osteoporosis, severe arthritis, a thyroid problem?	No	Yes		
	(If you have answered "Yes" to any questions in section 5, go stra	aight to	section 8.)		

Section 6: Signs and symptoms

9.	Do you often have pains in your heart, chest, or the surrounding areas?	No	Yes
10.	Do you experience shortness of breath, either at rest or with mild exertion?	No	Yes
11.	Do you often feel faint or have spells of severe dizziness?	No	Yes
12.	Have you, in the last 12 months, experienced difficulty with breathing when lying down or been awakened at night by shortness of breath?	No	Yes
13.	Do you experience swelling or a build up of fluid in or around your ankles?	No	Yes
14.	Do you often get the feeling that your heart is racing or skipping beats, either at rest or during exercise?	No	Yes
15.	Do you regularly get pains in your calves and lower legs during exercise that are not due to soreness or stiffness?	No	Yes
16.	Has your doctor ever told you that you have a heart murmur?	No	Yes
17.	Do you experience unusual fatigue or shortness of breath during everyday activities?	No	Yes
	(if you have answered "Yes" to any questions in section 6, go str	aight to	section 8.)

Section 7: Risk factors

18.	Does either of the following apply to you? a) I smoke cigarettes on a daily basis b) I stopped smoking cigarettes on a daily basis less than 6 months ago	No	Yes
19.	Has your doctor ever told you that you have high blood pressure?	No	Yes
20.	Has your doctor ever told you that you have high cholesterol?	No	Yes
21.	Has your father or any of your brothers had a heart attack, heart surgery, or a stroke before the age of 55?	No	Yes
22.	Has your mother or any of your sisters had a heart attack, heart surgery, or a stroke before the age of 65?	No	Yes
23.	Do any of the following apply to you?	No	Yes
	 a) I have had insulin-dependent diabetes for less than 15 years b) I have insulin-dependent diabetes and am 30 or younger c) I have non-insulin-dependent diabetes and am 35 or younger 		

Section 8: Signatures

Participant:	Date:
Guardian*:	Date:

(*Required only if the participant is under 18 years of age.)

Section 9: Additional risk factors (to be completed by the tester if relevant)

24. Is the participant's body mass index >30 kg/m ² ?		No	Yes
25. Has the participant answered no to questions 2a and	3a?	No	Yes
Section 10: Eligibility (to be completed by the tester)			
26. Is the participant eligible for the testing?	I	No	Yes
Name (of tester):			
Signature:	Date:		



Processing the completed questionnaire - a flow diagram

Appendix E

Bland-Altman plots for reliability trials
Peak Torque at Velocity 60°/s DOM limb



Peak Torque at Velocity 60% NDOM limb





Peak Torque at Velocity 120% DOM limb

Mean Torque (Nm)



Angle of Peak Torque at Velocity 60% DOM limb



Mean Angle of Peak Torque (°)











Mean Angle of Peak Torque (°)

Angle of Peak Torque at Velocity 240% DOM limb



Mean Angle of Peak Torque (°)



Angle of Peak Torque at Velocity 240°/s NDOM limb

Mean Angle of Peak Torque (°)

Appendix F

NHE Electromyography data

		D	OM	NDOM		
Subject	Phase	LAT	MED	LAT	MED	
2	1	7.8	5.6	4.1	5.9	
-	2	15.7	16.4	12.4	18.3	
	3	10.8	10.4	7.3	9.9	
3	1	1.6	2.4	1.7	1.7	
-	2	2.9	4.4	2.2	4.8	
	3	4.2	5.4	4.3	5.6	
4	1	1.8	3.3	2.1	5.9	
	2	10.9	15.9	9.9	18.2	
	3	10.9	8.9	12.1	15.1	
7	1	7.0	4.1	6.3	9.3	
	2	12.6	13.8	11.3	14.7	
	3	. 10.1	10.0	14.9	14.0	
8	1	4.6	4.9	2.1	4.7	
	2	14.3	14.2	4.5	14.7	
	3	6.1	5.8	3.0	8.9	
9	1	0.8	6.4	2.4	5.1	
	2	2.1	15.4	6.7	14.3	
	3	4.2	12.6	7.1	15.3	
10	1	1.1	1.6	3.5	3.1	
	2	5.6	7.6	7.4	10.8	
	3	8.2	8.1	9.5	13.6	
12	1	5.7	5.5	5.3	8.0	
	2	13.1	13.9	9.7	13.4	
	3	8.4	12.3	7.2	11.6	
14	1	5.1	5.6	5.0	5.1	
	2	12.7	13.1	12.7	11.3	
	3	13.9	11.1	15.0	13.4	
16	1	2.9	3.3	4.5	10.1	
	2	8.8	8.1	9.2	14.1	
	3	9.3	6.4	10.6	16.5	
17	1	4.4	5.7	6.1	4.1	
	2	13.1	16.1	14.7	11.2	
	3	8.2	9.8	10.9	8.7	
18	1	2.0	4.1	3.4	2.3	
	2	10.0	14.9	71.1	4.0	
10	3	9.7	11.0	7.9	4.0	
19	1	3.4 7 E	1.4	2.0	2.2	
	2	7.0	4.0	0.4	5.0	
20	3	0.1	2.0	0.5	5.4 //	
20		2.2	4.0	0.0	11 3	
	2	8.6	76	J.Z 1 5	93	
21	3 1	0.0 3.0	7.0	4.5	3.0	
21	2	12 4	89	11 5	8.0	
	2	67	4.8	66	8.3	
22	1	4 1	58	3.5	9.6	
<i>~~</i>	2	10.0	14.2	9.0	18 1	
	3	9 1	92	10.7	14.2	
23	1	2 1	3.6	3.8	7.6	
20	2	7.5	15 1	16.1	18.3	
	3	4.4	5.0	7.1	9.3	
26	1	1.7	2.1	1.2	2.0	
_0	2	12.3	11.6	5.6	14.0	
	3	11.5	9.0	6.8	11.4	

Appendix G

Isokinetic hamstring data

	60 º/s								
		Pre				Post			
	DOM		NDOM		DOM		NDOM		
Subject	Torque (Nm)	Angle (°)	Torque (Nm)	Angle (°)	Torque (Nm)	Angle (°)	Torque (Nm)	Angle (°)	
12	108	13	92	41	145	16	139	15	
14	216	19	159	20	227	38	185	15	
16	63	66	48	69	88	26	55	55	
17	115	20	106	20	129	17	107	19	
18	101	54	106	30	123	35	122	30	
19	83	62	72	47	75	76	76	32	
20	101	35	98	29	107	25	120	24	
21	118	24	95	33	122	38	107	34	
22	100	25	85	41	139	17	131	16	
23	148	23	131	13	169	18	152	22	
				120	°/s				
		Р	re		Po		st		
	DOM	1	NDOM		DOM	1	NDOI	M	
	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	
Subject	(Nm)	(°)	(Nm)	(°)	(Nm)	(°)	(Nm)	(°)	
12	116	15	86	29	127	18	130	17	
14	219	18	160	17	230	21	165	21	
16	68	59	56	57	103	16	57	59	
17	129	16	112	18	134	17	115	15	
18	102	32	125	28	134	18	142	16	
19	80	61	88	24	73	62	83	35	
20	94	62	114	17	112	15	117	18	
21	133	16	86	28	140	15	106	22	
22	101	16	80	63	121	17	124	15	
23	169	16	145	15	170	17	157	16	
240 °/s									
Pre			re		Po		est		
DOM		NDOM .		DOM		NDOM			
Subiect	Torque (Nm)	Angle (°)	Torque (Nm)	Angle (°)	l orque (Nm)	Angle (°)	Torque (Nm)	Angle (°)	
12	106	29	89	33	114	29	126	28	
14	213	27	166	33	224	24	182	33	
16	69	32	44	33	98	20	61	34	
10	117	22	112	21	122	20	120	22	
18	135	20	120	21	143	20	120	20	
10	85	20	95	23	74	26	88	20	
20	00 00	28	01	30	111	20	117	20	
20	124	20	91 81	20	125	21	117	20	
2 I 22	134 Q5	2 I 2 P	82	29 30	110	∠ I 27	120	29 20	
22	160	20 28	122	52 21	170	21	1/7	29 21	
20		20	100	21	170	21	14/	21	

Experimental

Control

	60 °/s								
	Pre				Post				
	DOM		NDOM		DOM	DOM		NDOM	
	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	
Subject	(Nm)	(°)	(Nm)	(°)	(Nm)	(°)	(Nm)	(°)	
2	83	27	73	20	108	35	95	25	
3	126	30	124	51	148	23	126	52	
4	116	22	106	13	102	24	97	13	
7	142	15	114	22	136	16	117	13	
8	73	44	75	18	66	21	78	26	
9	104	63	78	53	105	48	86	35	
10	197	16	186	13	174	15	168	13	
26	119	21	99	23	124	16	107	21	
				120) °/s				
	Pre				Post				
	DON	1	NDOM		DOM		NDOM		
- · · · · ·	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	
Subject	(Nm)	(")	(Nm)	(°)	(Nm)	(°)	(Nm)	(°)	
2	75	46	62	27	101	17	88	28	
3	145	21	135	30	151	22	123	60	
4	102	16	91	15	115	18	96	16	
7	142	16	112	16	145	16	110	19	
8	81	16	81	17	72	19	93	19	
9	106	61	86	54	84	63	87	30	
10	196	16	180	17	174	16	172	16	
26	132	20	93	30	124	16	108	29	
240 °/s									
	Pre				Post				
	DOM		NDOM		DOM		NDOM		
0 1 · · · ·	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	Torque	Angle	
Subject	(Nm)	(*)	(Nm)	(*)	(Nm)	(°)	(Nm)	(°)	
2	89	27	68	29	97	34	92	32	
3	152	34	135	34	148	27	133	34	
4	90	28	90	20	100	27	97	29	
7	136	21	108	23	122	29	93	32	
8	82	30	78	26	70	27	87	27	
9	48	35	79	48	46	35	79	26	
10	190	22	169	22	173	27	160	22	
26	128	29	98	29	124	23	113	30	